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Group Structure

REBEREE

As at 31 December 2020 RZZT=THF+-_A=+—H

Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Ltd.

RinBAFER) AR A ]

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(RASBEEEMAINERIF])

Listed on the Main Board of SEHK (Stock Code: 2348)
BABZAER B (ARG - 2348)

100%

A4

Dawnrays International Co., Ltd.
RinBIRBR AT

(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability)
(RABERREFSTMHINBERAT)

100%

A4

Dawnrays International Company Limited
RimEIR D BR AR
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(RBEBFAMKZNERATF)

\4

100%

Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Ltd.
RinEMiREEREEEM

(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)
(REBEMK W ERAE])

VBR AT

35%

AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
R (BER)ELF RN T

100%
y

100%
v

100%
v

100%
y

100%
4

100%
v

Dawnrays (Nantong)
Pharmaceutical
Science and
Technology Co., Ltd.
R 3 (A 4E8) B8 B bR
BRAH

Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Ltd.
RIGHEE )
BRAF

Fujian Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd.*

TR R I R4
BRAF

Su Zhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical
Science and

[Technology Co., Ltd.

AR N R 34 8

RHXBRAF]

Lanzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd."

78 1 BR B U %
BRAF"

Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
FINEIRAERRA

* The original name was Cinmed Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. It was renamed as Fuijian
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. on 2 March 2020.
RERBRREXRRNF  R_E_TF=A_HEARBRRERITHERRARF -

* Dawnrays International Company Limited entered into a joint venture contract with
Xiangbei Welman Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. which will hold 5% shares of Lanzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. lts first lot of capital was received in March 2021.

RinBRBRMARIRERILABSHERNERARF]SERR  MILHBE S8

BRMNRIRBEGRARS%ME - AE—FREFN-FT-_—F=AUKE -

Further details of above mentioned matters are given in the “Substantial Investment” and
“Introduction of Strategic Investors by Subsidiaries” of the Management Discussion and
Analysis in this report respectively.

FRIRRFE D IEAR R E ERE

AE] FHHR -

Dz TEXIKRE] R [HEA RS AR
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Dear SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the “Directors”) of
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”). I'm pleased to present
the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the
“reporting period”).

GROUP RESULTS

The Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB1,024,270,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB950,007,000), representing an
increase of 7.8% as compared to 2019. Profit attributable to owners of the
parent was approximately RMB268,130,000 (2019: RMB255,430,000),
representing an increase of 5.0% compared with 2019.

The increases in revenue and profit were mainly due to a significant
increase (compared with 2019) in the sales arising out of the performance
of relevant supply contracts by the Group during the reporting period, in
relation to winning the bids for its specific medicines including Amlodipine
Besylate Tablets 5mg, Atorvastatin Calcium Tablets 10mg, Entecavir
Dispersible Tablets 0.5mg, Levocetirizine Dihydrochloride Tablets 5mg
respectively in the centralized procurement of drugs in alliance member
regions in 2019 and the national centralized procurement of drugs in 2020
(collectively referred to as “Centralized Procurement of Drugs”).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.05 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2020, amounting to the total sum
of approximately HK$74,813,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB62,655,000), to the shareholders whose names appeared in the
register of members as of Wednesday, 2 June 2021 subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming 2021 Annual General
Meeting (the “2021 AGM”).

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE
SPECIAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a special dividend of HK$0.05 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2020, amounting to the total sum
of approximately HK$74,813,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB62,655,000), to the shareholders whose names appeared in the
register of members as of Wednesday, 2 June 2021 subject to the
approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming 2021 AGM.

The annual dividend payout ratio will be approximately 30.9%, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 1.5 percentage points if the one-off special
dividend is not counted. Taking into consideration the interim dividend of
HK$0.015 per share paid on 7 October 2020, the recommended payment
of special dividend of HK$0.05 per share and final dividend of HK$0.05 per
share, the total annual dividend distributed for the year will be HK$0.115
per share.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

During the reporting period, the spread of the COVID-19 outbreak hindered
various activities around the world, seriously disturbed the lives of citizens
and resulted in the economic contraction and decline of countries. With
targeted prevention and control measures taken by the PRC government,
China passed the severe test of the outbreak, and basically restored

production and operation in industries in the second quarter.

With regard to business of the Group, during the outbreak, according to
government guidance, and in consideration of the actual condition of
enterprises, and subject to the principle of the safety and health of
employees first, the management of the Group actively resumed work and
production, which basically ensured the smooth supply of various products
and operation in the later period, especially proper performance of the
obligations of the Group under supply contract for Centralized
Procurement of Drugs, leading the satisfaction of drug demand of patients,
and generation of the sales revenue for the Group during the reporting
period, thus alleviating and making up for the fluctuations and loss of
results caused by the outbreak in the first half of the year during the
reporting period.
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During the reporting period, due to the continuous impact of Centralized
Procurement of Drugs in respect of which the bids were won, the sales
volume of specific medicines of the Group increased considerably year on
year. Among them, there were significant year-on-year increases in sales
of the winning product Amlodipine Besylate Tablets (“Anneizhen” (Z R H))
of An series. In addition, there were also year-on-year increases in the
sales of Telmisartan Tablets (“Anneigiang” (Z X3 )) and Losartan
Potassium and Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets (“‘Anneixi” (£ &)), of the
same series, fully showing the Group’s leading position in the anti-
hypertensive drug market of China. However, due to the continuous
impact of the bidding prices for the Centralized Procurement of Drugs
were generally and significantly lower than the original selling prices, there
was a relatively large difference when comparing the year-on-year increase
in the sales amount and the year-on-year increase in the sales volume of
the Group’s specific medicines.

During the COVID-19 outbreak, the decrease in the number of general
patients in hospitals, the interruption in the industry supply chain, the
logistics delay and other factors had a certain impact on the antibiotic
series of products of the Group. Despite the gradual recovery to the
normal level after the plateauing of the outbreak, the progress of end
customers in the market in resuming their operation varied in the
subsequent period, resulting in unsmooth sales of antibiotics. During the
reporting period, there were year-on-year decreases in the sales of
cephalosporin bulk medicines, powder for injections and oral preparations
of the Group, due to the above reasons and the continuous and strict
control by the government over the clinical use of antibiotics.

During the reporting period, Phase Il and Phase | clinical work were carried
out respectively for clinical trials for Class | new drug registration of
Ebronucimab (AK102) (proposed to be used for lowering cholesterol levels)
and AK109 (proposed to be used for treating gastric cancer, lung cancer
and rectal cancer), both of which are monoclonal antibody agents
developed by AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., a joint venture enterprise
established by the Group. According to the information of clinical trial
research and the project progress known to the Group, the Group remains
cautiously optimistic about the investment prospect.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Moreover, in order to facilitate the Group’s technological innovation in the
research and development of preparation products, especially specific
medicines, Nanjing PharmaRays Science and Technology Co., Ltd., a joint
venture enterprise established by the Group and external entities, was on
track after gradual and internal coordination, and secured material research
and development projects. The Group has the priority to acquire and use
research and development results of the company for a fair consideration,

under fair conditions.

During the reporting period, the research and development department of
the Group actively promoted the consistency evaluation of the quality and
efficacy of generic drugs, and made greater efforts to promote the
consistency evaluation of cephalosporin series of products in addition to
the oral solid-dosage-form projects, so that the product quality would be
recognized, which will facilitate the participation in national centralized
procurement of drugs in the future. In terms of the development of new
products, after years of efforts of the research and development team and
upon no significant changes, the Group will launch some new products in
different treatment fields in the next few years.

As previously disclosed by the Company, due to land replotting
requirements of the local government of the place where the enterprise is
located or the land environment replanning requirements of the local
government and in consideration of the long-term development strategy of
the Company, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Lanzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., both of which are subsidiaries of the
Group, respectively promoted relocation and new factory construction
projects. The Group expects that after completion of relevant project
construction, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. will be relocated
from the factory located at Tianling Road to the new factory , and the new
factory of Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. located in Chemical
Industry Park, Lanzhou New District will also open. The management of
the Group is closely following up and managing the operating risks which
may arise out of the relocation. Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical
Science and Technology Co., Ltd. suspended the production as scheduled
in January 2021, and thereafter, its business is mainly handling factory
relocation and general corporate administrative matters.
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The above two relocation and construction projects mainly involved the
Group’s business of intermediate, bulk medicine and powder for injection.
Over the past few years, due to the guidance of the national supply-side
reform policy, the chemical bulk medicine industry has been subject to
environmental protection, quality consistency evaluation, associated review
and other measures, which accelerates the industry reform and increases
the concentration. Capitalizing on the opportunity from the relocation, the
Group will optimize the process technology and production facilities of
intermediates and bulk medicines, expand its production capacity and
product mix to enhance its competitiveness in domestic sales and export
of bulk medicines, and create cost and quality advantages for its
downstream products. The Group will give full play to the corporate
strength in the integration of bulk medicines and preparations to support
the Group in winning bids in national centralized procurement of drugs in
the future. During the reporting period, in order to consolidate the sales of
Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. after putting into operation,
the Group reached an agreement with an independent third party for
strategic cooperation, pursuant to which the third party became a
shareholder of Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. by way of
capital increase.

During the peak of the COVID-19 outbreak, as the management of the
Group took appropriate measures to mitigate relevant risks in due course,
the impact on the business was as expected by the management. During
the reporting period, the overall operation of the Group was relatively
stable with a sound financial position. Based on the foregoing and in
consideration of the share price of the Company, during the reporting
period, the Board repurchased certain shares of the Company on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in accordance with the repurchase
mandate granted at the annual general meetings. The Board believes that
the repurchase of the shares and subsequent cancellation of the shares
repurchased can increase the share value, thus improving the return for
the shareholders of the Company.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

During the State 13th Five-Year Plan period, the government continuously
published policies in relation to payment under the medical insurance, drug
research and development, drug circulation, group purchasing organization
and essential medicines list, while the revised Drug Administration Law (2%
o B 32 A 18 5T hR), the revised Measures for the Administration of Drug
Registration (%M &R P EEEThR) and the Measures for the
Supervision and Administration of Pharmaceutical Production (2% 4 25
BEIR L) have been in full force and effect. Of which, national
centralized procurement of drugs became normalized and covered a wider
range of varieties, the adjustment of the reimbursement drug list and price
negotiation were scheduled. All these are vital to corporate revenue, thus
having a far-reaching impact on the whole pharmaceutical industry.

In the future, under the guidance of government policies, the development
of the industry will be more standardized and concentrated, with more
fierce competition among enterprises. Despite the increasingly fierce
competition in the industry, due to various social impacts of the sudden
COVID-19 outbreak, the strategic position of the medical and
pharmaceutical industry rises to a new level, and there will be a greater
market prospect and considerable opportunities for the industry. With the
chemical pharmaceutical business as the principal business, the Group
deeply understands that the capacity for developing new products and the
capacity for commercialization of new products are equally important. The
Company will capitalize on the advantages of corporate resources, strive
to enrich its product mix, develop and accumulate more products with
potential in different treatment fields to form a lineup. Meanwhile, the
Company will optimize its corporate marketing system to satisfy the needs
of future market development. The Company expects that in the
foreseeable future, new products of the Group will be successively
launched in the market, which, together with the putting into operation of
new factories in Suzhou and Lanzhou, will bring about an improvement in
the comprehensive competitiveness of the Group, provide new energy for
the achievement by the Group of the targets of business planning, and
contribute to the sustainable development of the Group in the long term.
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APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt thanks to the
shareholders, directors of the Company, partners, managers and
employees of the Group for their support and contributions in businesses
in the past year.

By Order of the Board

Li Kei Ling
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWmR DN
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the review period, despite the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak in
the early stage, with the joint efforts of all employees and the opportunity
arising out of winning the bids for 4 products of the Group in the
centralized procurement in national alliance member regions and the
second round of national centralized procurement, there was a significant
increase of 54.9% in the sales volume and an increase of 5.4% in the sales
to RMB455 million of the anti-hypertensive drug in “An” (%) series
medicines of the Group, as compared with the same period of 2019; there
was a year-on-year increase of 500.0% in the sales volume and an
increase of 196.3% in the sales to RMB180 million of Fujian Dawnrays
series products which are mainly to treat hyperlipidemia; there was a
significant increase of 445.5% in the sales volume and a decline of 5.5% in
the sales to RMB84 million of Entecavir Dispersible Tablets as compared

with the same period of 2019.

The COVID-19 outbreak mainly caused impact on the sales volume of the
Group’s antibiotic series products: The sales volume of cephalosporin for
oral decreased by 30.7%, the sales volume of powder for injections
decreased by 60.8% and the sales volume of cephalosporin intermediates
and bulk medicines decreased by 14.3%, compared with the same period
of 2019.

During the period, the Group’s marketing management personnel adjusted
the Group’s product marketing ideas and sales strategies appropriately in
response to the rapid changes in the market, strengthened the allocation
of resources, optimized the supply and marketing system, and developed
new markets. The Group actively seized the opportunity arising out of
national centralized procurement in alliance member regions, and
promoted the winning drugs to extend to the second and third market
terminals, so as to improve the organizational management and control in
markets at all levels, and ensure reasonable sales growth of the above
winning drugs in 2021, thus contributing to the profitability of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ANTI-HYPERTENSIVE PRODUCTS

Hypertension is the most common chronic non-communicable disease.
According to medical statistics, the prevalence rate of hypertension among
Chinese residents aged 18 and above is over 25%, so anti-hypertensive
drugs have a broad market prospect. The Group paid special attention to
market development in this field, and participated in the national “Chinese
Hypertension Intervention Efficacy Study” (CHIEF). The Group cooperated
with more than 150 medical institutions to provide anti-hypertensive drugs
for over 10,000 patients, so the Group enjoyed favourable brand reputation
among doctors and hypertension patients.

During the period, considering the tendency that the product market of
common anti-hypertensive drugs extended downwards from the first
terminal, the Group’s marketing management carried out precise design
and control of the key marketing impact factors such as sales channels
and sales price of major product “Anneizhen” (ZE) (Amlodipine
Besylate Tablets), strengthened allocation of resources, and continued
reinforcing the promotion activities of the second and third market
terminals, thereby ensuring the continual sales of such products on the
market and guaranteeing the stability of market shares. Based on the
Group’s integration of the survey data of market research institutions, the
sales of “Anneizhen” (Z W& ) was placed the leading position among
similar products on the second and third market terminals in many cities
and provinces, and occupied considerable market shares. Moreover, in
terms of sales of another anti-hypertensive drug “Anneixi” (Z X )
(Losartan Potassium and Hydrochlorothiazide Tablets) of the Group, it
ranked among the top domestic brands and had become the Group’s
second star product for anti-hypertension. In the future, the Group’s
marketing management team will focus more attention on brand planning,
channel building, price upholding and academic promotion of the “An” (%)
series products, strengthen the access design of products to different
markets by closely following up national policies related to chronic disease
management, and further expand the new market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmR DM

ANTI-HYPERLIPIDEMIC PRODUCTS

Hyperlipidemia is the most commmon chronic non-communicable disease,
and is one of main pathogenic risk factors in the occurrence and
development of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) in Chinese
residents. According to statistics of The Guide for The Prevention and
Treatment of Dyslipidemia in Adults in China (revised version of 2016) (+
A MPAEE T AIER (2016F 85T HR)), the prevalence rate of
hypercholesterolemia is 4.9%, the prevalence rate of triglyceride is 13.1%,
the overall prevalence rate of dyslipidemia in adults in China is as high as
40.4%, and thus the market prospect of anti-hyperlipidemic drugs is
promising.

During the period, with the opportunity arising out of national centralized
procurement in alliance member regions, the sales performance of
Atorvastatin Calcium Tablets of Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Cinmed Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.), a subsidiary of the
Group, exceeded expectation. During the period, the sales volume of the
product increased by 710.5% year on year. It ranks in leading position in
domestic sales market.

ANTIVIRAL PRODUCTS

According to market information, Entecavir is currently “basic” medicine for
clinical treatment of hepatitis B, accounting for more than half of the
nucleoside drugs. There was a steady increase in the domestic market
share of Entecavir Dispersible Tablets of the Group by virtue of the “unique
cyclodextrin inclusion technology”. During the period, under the full efforts
of the Group’s sales teams, all the market promotion work was
successfully implemented, and by virtue of winning the bid for centralized
procurement of drugs in national alliance member regions, better domestic
sales results than expected were obtained, the sales volume grew
remarkably by 445.5% as compared to 2019. Meanwhile, in response to
change in national medical insurance policies and the implementation of
centralized procurement of drugs, the Group adjusted marketing strategies
in a timely manner, enhanced promotion to retail terminal, and further
explored the market potential of the product.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINISHED CEPHALOSPORIN PRODUCTS

The finished cephalosporin product has had a significant share of China’s
antibiotics market for a long time due to its good efficacy and safety, and
there will always be broad market space for the product due to factors
such as environmental pollution (e.g., haze) and enormous social
population. During the period, due to the impact of the COVID-19
outbreak, the sales volume decreased by 40.2%. In view of this, the
Group’s management optimized the product mix, so as to make certain
achievements in sales. Meanwhile, consistency evaluation has been
actively carried out, which will lay a good foundation for the subsequent
development of the products.

INTERMEDIATES AND BULK MEDICINES

During the review period, for its business of intermediates and bulk
medicines for cephalosporin antibiotics, the Group actively carried out
associated review and filing work hoping to further improve its market
share in the future. In order to improve the market competitiveness of its
products and realize the integrated production of raw materials and
preparations, the Group took the opportunity brought about by the
relocation of Dawnrays (Nantong), to invest in the construction of a
production base for bulk medicines and intermediates in the Chemical
Industry Park of Lanzhou New District, which is under construction as
planned.

DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW PRODUCT FIELD

Gout is a crystal-related arthropathy caused by monosodium urate (MSU)
deposition, which is directly related to hyperuricemia caused by purine
metabolic disorder and/or uric acid excretion reduction. Gout may be
complicated with renal diseases, and joint damage and renal function
damage may occur in severe cases. It is often accompanied by
hyperlipidemia, diabetes, arteriosclerosis, coronary heart disease, etc.
Public data show that with the continuous improvement in people’s living
standards, the incidence rate of hyperuricemia or gout is getting higher
and higher, and there is an increasing number of young patients with
hyperuricemia or gout. According to statistics of The Guide to The
Diagnosis and Treatment of Hyperuricemia and Gout in China (2019) (+
= PR B IE B2 [EL 2 45 (2019)), the overall prevalence rate of
hyperuricemia in China is 13.3%, the prevalence rate of gout is 1.1%. In
order to enrich the Group’s product line, on 24 December 2019, Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, signed a
transfer agreement with Nanjing Haina Medical and Pharmaceutical
Technology Company Limited (Fd 2 /8 M ERHERMHBRAF]), an
independent third party, with regard to the transfer of marketing
authorization holder of Febuxostat Tablets (40mg, 80mg) and bulk
medicines for gout treatment. On 2 February 2021, Nanjing Haina Medical
and Pharmaceutical Technology Company Limited (R 5 /& 49 %8 2551 5 i%
7 EBR/AF]) obtained the drug registration certificates for Febuxostat
Tablets (40mg, 80mg). Accepting the transfer of the marketing
authorization holder of Febuxostat Tablets (40mg, 80mg) and bulk

medicines will bring about a new source of profit growth for the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DT

PRODUCT RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Apart from the description in the following section of “NEW PRODUCTS
AND PATENT LICENSING”, the Group’s ongoing research projects cover
the therapeutic areas of circulatory system, digestive system, endocrine
system, antiviral drugs, etc. The Group will continue investing more
resources in production technology and product R&D and innovation, and
seek after various scientific research cooperation opportunities so as to
optimize our product mix and profitability foundation.

CONSISTENCY EVALUATION

As at 31 December 2020, according to statistics by product specification,
the Group conducted quality and efficacy research into 31 varieties, with
the applications for 6 varieties (Entecavir Dispersible Tablets (0.5mg),
Amlodipine Besylate Tablets (5mg), Levocetirizine Dihydrochloride Tablets
(5mg), Cetirizine Hydrochloride Tablets (10mg), Metformin Hydrochloride
Tablet (250mg) and Azithromycin Tablets (250mg)) approved. The
applications for consistency evaluation for 5 varieties have been submitted
to the Center for Drug Evaluation, NMPA. Moreover, bioequivalence (BE)
clinical trials of 2 of such varieties are carried out, and pharmaceutical
research into 18 of such varieties is conducted.

IMPACT OF CENTRALIZED PROCUREMENT OF DRUGS

From September 2019 to February 2021, China successively carried out
four rounds of the bidding process for centralized procurement of drugs.
Centralized procurement of drugs presents great challenges to the original
drug sales model and an opportunity. Under the group purchasing
organization policy, the prices have been greatly reduced, which makes it
difficult for generic drug enterprises to obtain high profit margin as before.
In addition, with the in-depth promotion of consistency evaluation and
group purchasing organization, the arrangements for generic drugs are
reconstructed. For the generic drug industry, the accessibility of bulk
medicines of generic drugs, production costs, product quality and brand,
and diversified product pipelines will be the key to the competitiveness of
an enterprise. Future procurement and sales depend on market access.
The Group has actively responded to the challenges in the industry, given
full play to its comprehensive competitive advantages such as production
cost, product quality and brand, and proactively participated in centralized
procurement of drugs. At the same time, with its brand influence, it has
integrated resources, formulated individualized product marketing
strategies and developed product sales channels to ensure the revenue of
the Group’s products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

COST REDUCTION AND EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT

During the period, the Group carried out all-staff activities for energy
saving, emission reduction, cost reduction and efficiency improvement,
and significantly reduced product costs through measures including
centralized procurement of materials, technology improvement and cost
assessment, which made a great contribution to stabilizing the profitability
of the Group.

OTHER MATTERS

During the period, the Group continued improving production, product
quality, human resources, internal audit etc., and endeavored to enhance
the risk control capability and improve the operating level of various
systems, in an attempt to maintain the Group’s sustainable development in

the fierce business competition environment.

PRODUCTION AND SALES

For the year ended 31 December 2020, to compare the production volume
and sales volume of the Group’s intermediates and bulk medicines with
those in 2019, the production volume was on similar level and the sales
volume decreased by 14.3% respectively. The production volume and
sales volume of cephalosporin powder for injection decreased by 43.0%
and 60.8% respectively, as compared with last year. The decreases in the
production and sales volumes of intermediates and bulk medicines, and
powder for injection were mainly due to the impact of the COVID-19
outbreak. The production volume of solid-dosage-forms increased by
131.9% as compared with last year, while the sales volume increased by
119.5% as compared with last year. In terms of international business,
despite the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group continuously
explored overseas markets, with sales in line with the previous year. The
sales in the overseas market accounted for 9.3% of the overall sales of the
Group.
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EEBENmEDON

NEW PRODUCTS AND PATENT LICENSING

(1)

@

18

In 2020, the Group submitted 7 supplementary registration

applications and 103 reregistration applications to Jiangsu Medical

Products Administration. During the year, 1 bulk medicine variety

passed the technical review; 2 varieties passed consistency

evaluation; the approvals for supplementary applications (recordation

documents) for 6 varieties were obtained from Jiangsu Medical

Products Administration; 103 reregistration approvals were obtained.

Two invention patent certificates obtained in 2020

(i)

An invention patent certificate (Patent No.: ZL201811249877.9)
was granted for “A kind of method for preparation of
sitafloxacin hydrate” on 22 May 2020.

An invention patent certificate (Patent No.: ZL201710144451.6)
was granted for “A kind of method of using supercritical fluid
technology for preparation of entecavir cyclodextrin inclusion
compound” on 1 September 2020.

A total of four utility model patent certificates obtained in 2020

)

(i)

V)

DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED RIs&I% (12A) AR AT

A utility model patent certificate (Patent No.:
Z1.201821641916.5) was granted for “A kind of full-automatic
solid dripping pill production machine” on 25 February 2020.

A utility model patent certificate (Patent No.:
Z1.202020582164.0) was granted for “A kind of hot air
circulating oven for production of tablets” on 8 December
2020.

A utility model patent certificate (Patent No.: ZL.202020582180.
X) was granted for “A kind of material unloading device of high-
speed mixer granulator for production of tablets” on 15
December 2020.

A utility model patent certificate (Patent No.:
Z1.202020582176.3) was granted for “A kind of punches of
high-speed rotary tablet press machine for production of
tablets” on 29 December 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

HONORS AWARDED TO THE GROUP

Time of Awards Honors

November 2020

December 2020

January 2021

February 2021

The honor of“Excellent Product Brand in the

Pharmaceutical Industry of Jiangsu Province”was

granted for Amlodipine Besylate Tablets (Anneizhen (%
M H)), Levocetirizine Dihydrochloride Tablets (Xikexin (78
A ¥)), and Entecavir Dispersible Tablets (Leiyide (5 %
%)) of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. in
2020.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
recognized and recorded as a high-new technology
enterprise in Jiangsu (high-new technology
enterprise certificate No.:GR202032003863).
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
rated by Suzhou Wuzhong Pharmaceutical Industry
Association and the Bio-pharmaceutical Industry
Association ERMTTRA[EEEITHERY S - £ E %
1TE1€) as the*Advanced Organization in
Epidemic Prevention in 2020”.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
recognized as one of the “Ten Star Enterprises
(Industrial)” in Suzhou Wuzhong Economic
Development Zone in 2020.

Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. won the
“Outstanding Economic Contribution Award in
2020".

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
rated by the People’s Government of Wuzhong
District, Suzhou as one of the “Top 100 Enterprises”,
the “Benchmarking Technology Enterprise”, the
“Leading Enterprise in Industry Innovation” and the
“Advanced Enterprise in Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction” in 2020.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
rated by the Suzhou Wuzhong Economic
Development Zone as the “Outstanding Contribution
Organization” and “High-quality Development
Enterprise (Innovative Transformation and
Development Enterprise and Contributor to Output
Benefits)” in 2020.

Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. was
awarded as “An Enterprise with a Deeply Rooted
Foundation in Wuzhong Making Contribution from
Outstanding Development” on the 20th Anniversary
of the establishment of Wuzhong District.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately RMB1,024,270,000, increased by RMB74,263,000 or 7.8%
compared with last year. Of which the turnover of intermediates and bulk
medicines was RMB200,214,000, decreased by RMB36,032,000 or
15.3% compared with last year. The turnover of finished drugs was
RMB824,056,000, increased by RMB110,295,000 or 15.5% compared
with last year. The decrease in the sales of intermediates and bulk
medicines was mainly due to the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak. The
increase in the sales of finished drugs was mainly due to winning the bids
for four products of the Group in the national centralized procurement of
drugs, and the development of the second and third market terminals.

Sales amount of finished drugs, comprising system specific medicines,
powder for injection and tablets of cephalosporin and other oral solid-
dosage-form of antibiotics, reached approximately RMB824,056,000.
Taking into account of the total turnover, sales amount of finished drugs
was approximately 80.5%, increased by 5.4 percentage points compared
with last year. Sales amount of system specific medicines accounted for
95.3% of sales of finished drugs.

Gross profit was approximately RMB550,645,000, increased by
RMB14,776,000 compared with last year, representing an increase of
2.8%. Gross profit margin decreased by approximately 2.6 percentage
points to 53.8% from 56.4% as in last year. The unit selling prices of the
winning products in national centralized procurement decreased
significantly, but the Group carried out all-staff activities for energy saving,
emission reduction, cost reduction and efficiency improvement, thus
significantly reducing the production cost. Therefore, the decrease in the

gross profit margin was not significant.
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TABLE OF TURNOVER ANALYSIS
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ER 2] HELH
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(AR¥TR) (ARETT) (ARETR) (%) (%) changes
2020 2019 changes 2020 2019 BRE
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Intermediates and Bulk Medicines PR B8 I R 200,214 236,246 -36,032 19.5 24.9 54
Finished Drugs k2 824,056 713,761 110,295 80.5 75.1 54
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EXPENSES ZH

During the year, the total expenses incurred were approximately
RMB239,002,000, equivalent to 23.3% of turnover (2019: 27.2%). The
total expenses decreased by approximately RMB19,015,000 compared
with last year which was RMB258,017,000. Due to national centralized
procurement and the adjustment of the sales model, the selling expenses
decreased by RMB30,240,000 compared with last year. The administrative
expenses increased by RMB12,137,000 as compared with last year,
mainly due to the inclusion of administrative expenses of Fujian Dawnrays
and Nanjing PharmaRays. Finance expenses was RMB4,828,000, mainly
loan interest of working capital. Other expenses kept stable compared to
last year, due to the decrease in write-down of inventories to net realizable
value, offset by the increase in expenditure of research and development
costs.

SEGMENT PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the segment profit from the
finished drugs segment was approximately RMB473,286,000, representing
an increase of RMB55,251,000 compared with RMB418,035,000 in 2019,
mainly due to increase in the sales of finished drugs. The segment profit of
the intermediates and bulk medicines segment was RMB2,608,000. The
turnaround from loss of RMB1,267,000 in 2019 to profit was mainly due to
the decline in the production cost despite the decrease in the sales during
the year.
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INTERESTS AND RIGHTS IN ASSOCIATE

During the year, AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (AD Pharmaceuticals),
which was invested by the Group’s subsidiary Dawnrays Biotechnology
Capital (Asia) Ltd. (Dawnrays Biotechnology), has launched Phase Il clinical
trial and Phase | clinical trial for registration of Class | new drugs of
monoclonal antibody agent Ebronucimab (AK102) (proposed to be used to
lower cholesterol levels) and AK109 (proposed to be used to treat gastric
cancer, lung cancer and rectal cancer) respectively. For the year ended 31
December 2020, AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. reported loss for the year
of RMB53,631,000 including the R&D and administrative expenses. As a
result, the Group shared, in proportion to the investment percentage, an
investment loss of approximately RMB18,771,000 in 2020 (2019:
RMB11,829,000). As at 31 December 2020, the Group had carried out
impairment test and assessment for the investment in the associate and
was of the view that it was unnecessary to make provision for impairment.
On 2 February 2021, Dawnrays Biotechnology entered into a loan
agreement with AD Pharmaceuticals, pursuant to which Dawnrays
Biotechnology has agreed to provide an unsecured loan in a principal
amount of RMB84 million to AD Pharmaceuticals for a term of five years.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

For the year ended 31 December 2020, profit attributable to owners of the
parent amounted to approximately RMB268,130,000, representing an
increase of RMB12,700,000 or 5.0% compared with RMB255,430,000 in

last year.
ANALYSIS ON THE RETURN ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, net assets attributable to owners of the parent
were approximately RMB2,170,503,000. The return on net assets, which
is defined as the profit attributable to owners of the parent divided by net
assets attributable to owners of the parent was 12.4% (2019: 12.6%). The
current ratio and quick ratio was 3.23 and 2.71 respectively. Turnover days
for trade receivables were approximately 67 days. The turnover days for
trade receivables including bills receivables were 123 days. Turnover days
for inventory were approximately 162 days. The financial liquidity was

improved as compared with last year.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss including:

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

invested in certain Hong Kong public listed shares amounted
approximately RMB5,962,000 (31 December 2019: approximately
RMB9,557,000);

invested in financial bonds issued by China Development Bank
amounted approximately RMB30,174,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB37,630,000);

purchased certain wealth management products of approximately
RMB164,000,000 (including “Hui Li Feng” (FEF]Z) with principal
amount RMB40,000,000, and structured deposits of
RMB124,000,000 from four other banks) (31 December 2019:
RMB455,000,000) of floating interest rate principal-preservation type
with annual interest rate from 1.30% to 3.50% from several good
credit worth banks in China. The expected yield would be
approximately RMB985,000 in total. The wealth management
products were mainly relatively lower risk of default. All principal and
interests will be paid together on the maturity date. The Board
believes that the investment in aforementioned wealth management
products can strengthen the financial position of the Group and bring
the fruitful contribution to the profit of the Group;

during the year, the Group purchased foreign exchange forward
contracts amounting to US$870,000. As at 31 December 2020, a
gain of approximately RMB71,000 was recorded in such forward
contracts measured at fair value.

The above mentioned financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to approximately RMB201,192,000 (31 December 2019:
approximately RMB505,830,000), representing approximately 6.9% (31

December 2019: 18.2%) of the total assets of the Group. For the year

ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded net gain of approximately
RMB11,741,000 (2019: RMB13,862,000) on the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. The Board believes that the investment in

equity investments and financial assets can diversify the investment

portfolio of the Group and achieve a better return to the Group in future.
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EEENWR DN
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and bank balance
approximately RMB730,986,000 (as at 31 December 2019:
RMB471,461,000). During the year, the net cash inflows from operating
activities was approximately RMB302,903,000 (2019: RMB275,837,000).
Net cash inflows from investing activities was approximately
RMB26,447,000 (2019 net cash outflows: RMB598,859,000). Net cash
outflows from financing activities was approximately RMB327,696,000
(2019 net cash inflows: RMB66,087,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had aggregate bank facilities of
approximately RMB1,300,000,000 (as at 31 December 2019:
RMB1,307,585,000). As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings was zero (as at 31 December 2019:
RMB216,776,000), and the debt ratio (defined as sum of interest-bearing
bank borrowings over total assets) of the Group was zero (as at 31
December 2019: 7.8%).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately RMB176,391,000 (as at 31 December 2019:
RMB207,379,000), decreased by 14.9% compared to 2019, mainly due to
the impact of decreased proportion of bulk medicine in the sales structure.

As at 31 December 2020, the inventory balance of the Group was
approximately RMB246,028,000 (as at 31 December 2019:
RMB180,759,000), representing an increase of RMB65,269,000 as
compared with 2019. The increase in inventory as at the end of the period
was mainly due to early stock-up for the relocation of Dawnrays (Nantong)
Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s contracted but not provided for
plant and machinery capital commitments amounted to approximately
RMB252,523,000 (as at 31 December 2019: RMB24,919,000), which was
mainly related to Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.’s relocation
construction project and Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.’s

bulk medicines base project .
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SUBSTANTIAL INVESTMENT

Nanjing PharmaRays Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing
PharmaRays”), a research and development enterprise, was jointly
established by Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical and two independent
third parties in 2019 with Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical holding 65%
of the shares of Nanjing PharmaRays. The company is an independent
research and development platform, with a focus on new drug products
which are developed, using new technologies of drug delivery systems, so
as to meet the market demand for drugs in innovative dosage forms.
Nanjing PharmaRays officially commenced its business on 12 January
2020. It has major equipment and personnel and is engaged in the
development of new generic drugs. The registered capital of Nanjing
PharmaRays is RMB50,000,000, and Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
has made a capital contribution of RMB20,000,000 for the first instalment,
in accordance with the joint venture agreement. The capital contributions
of the other two shareholders have been paid in accordance with the joint

venture agreement.

Due to the urban planning adjustment of Wuzhong Economic Development
District by Suzhou Municipal People’s Government, Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical entered into the Relocation Compensation Agreement with
the government where it operates on 20 December 2017. Both parties
agreed the relocation compensation amount was approximately
RMB351,200,000. As of 31 December 2020, Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical received the relocation compensation of
RMB175,595,000. Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical purchased 100 mu
of land in Wusongjiang Chemical Industrial Park in Wuzhong Economic
Development Zone for the construction of the relocation project, in August
2019. The funds of RMB355 million are planned to be invested in the

project. At present, the project is under construction.

As a result of the planning adjustment of Yangkou Chemical Industrial Park
of Rudong County People’s Government of Nantong City, Dawnrays
(Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary
of the Group, signed a relocation compensation agreement with the local
government on 30 December 2019, pursuant to which Dawnrays
(Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd. terminated its
production in January 2021 and is in the stage of demolition and
relocation. The net revenue from the relocation is expected to be
approximately RMB5 million.
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Considering that Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. will terminate its operation, the Group has made an
overall plan to avoid the impact on the supply of intermediates of the
Group and also to conform to new national medical insurance and
medicine policies, further improve the market competitiveness of its
products and integrate raw materials and preparations, the Group has
invested in the construction of a production base for bulk medicines and
intermediates in the Chemical Industrial Park of the Lanzhou New District.
“Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B8 M R i 5L 225 R A 7))
was established on 30 December 2019 with a registered capital of US$50
million. With regard to the project, an application has been submitted to
the Management Committee of the Lanzhou New District for the purchase
of 250 mu of land, with the Phase | fixed asset investment of RMB287
million. The main products are cephalosporin bulk medicines and
intermediates, bulk medicines for system specific medicines, raw materials
of enzyme inhibitors, and raw materials of health supplements. At present,
the project is under construction.

On 24 December 2019, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical signed a
transfer agreement with Nanjing Haina Medical and Pharmaceutical
Technology Company Limited (F§ R /8 B R B R A7), an
independent third party, with regard to the transfer of the marketing
authorization holder of Febuxostat tablets (40mg, 80mg) and bulk
medicines for gout treatment. Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical paid the
first instalment of RMB20 million for the transfer in accordance with the
agreement in January 2020. On 2 February 2021, Nanjing Haina Medical
and Pharmaceutical Technology Company Limited (78 5 4988 25 5 f%
3 BRA 7)) obtained the drug registration certificates for Febuxostat
Tablets (40mg, 80mg). Relevant procedures for the change of the
marketing authorization holder are being gone through.

During the year, to streamline group structure, the Group restructured Top
Field Limited (which was acquired by the Group on 7 May 2019) and its
subsidiaries in accordance with statutory requirements. Top Field Limited
was deregistered on 22 May 2020. Deregistration application for Cinmed
(Hong Kong) Investment Limited, a subsidiary of Top Field Limited,
commenced in March 2020 and was approved for dissolution on 11
February 2021. Deregistration application for Cinmed Medical Equipment
(Putian) Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Cinmed Pharmaceuticals Co. Ltd.,
commenced in December 2020 and was approved on 1 February 2021.
Cinmed Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. was approved to rename as Fujian
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Fujian Dawnrays”) on 2 March 2020.
The acquisition of Top Field Limited generated goodwill of
RMB241,158,000 (“Fujian Dawnrays Goodwill’) and the Group is required
to perform the impairment test for “Fujian Dawnrays Goodwill” at each
reporting period end. Impairment assessment is carried out by determining
the value in use of the cash-generating unit of Fujian Dawnrays. After an
assessment, the Group believes that there was no impairment on “Fujian
Dawnrays Goodwill” as at 31 December 2020, for the reason that in
relation to the cash-generating unit of Fujian Dawnrays, the recoverable
amount based on value in use exceeded the carrying value as at 31

December 2020.
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INTRODUCTION OF STRATEGIC INVESTORS BY
SUBSIDIARIES

During the period, Dawnrays International Company Limited., a subsidiary
of the Group, and Xiangbei Welman Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (fiibE 2
SUEERS (Y TR /A B)) (Xiangbei Welman), an independent third party, entered
into a joint venture contract, and Xiangbei Welman held 5% of shares in
Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., amounting to US$2.5 million,
by way of capital increase. Xiangbei Welman Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. is a
joint stock company with Hong Kong “Welman International New Drug
Development Centre (Group) Limited” as the major investor. Established in
1995, the company is located in Liuyang Development Zone, Hunan
Province, with an area of 268 mu and a registered capital of RMB365.925
million. Its principal business is drug research and development, production
and sales, and its core products are anti-resistance antibiotic preparations
such as anti-resistance combinations of penicillins and combinations of
cephalosporin against super bacteria. Xiangbei Welman is one of the major
customers of bulk medicines of the Group. The Group believes that the
introduction of Xiangbei Welman as a shareholder of Lanzhou Dawnrays
contributes to stabilizing the sales of bulk medicines of the Group and
expanding the production line of Lanzhou Dawnrays. The first instalment of
the investment of Xiangbei Welman was paid in March 2021 in accordance

with the joint venture contract.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant external investments,
material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies
by the Group during the year.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND TREASURY POLICIES

Because of the appreciation of Renminbi in the second half of 2020, as a
result, as at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded an exchange loss of
RMB1,476,000 (2019: gain of RMB2,298,000) . The Group’s substantial
business activities, assets and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi, so
the risk derived from the foreign exchange to the Group is not high. The
treasury policy of the Group is to manage any risk of foreign exchange or
interest rate (if any) only if it will potentially impose a significant impact on
the Group. The Group continues to observe the foreign exchange and
interest rate market, and may hedge against foreign currency risk with
foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate risk with interest rate

swap contracts if necessary.
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STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed approximately 1,090
employees and the total remuneration was approximately
RMB156,313,000 (2019: RMB139,658,000). The Group regards human
resources as the most valuable assets and truly understands the
importance of attracting and retaining high-performance employees. The
remuneration policy is generally based on the references of market salary
index and individual qualifications. The Group provides its employees with
other fringe benefits, including defined contribution retirement schemes,
share option scheme and medical coverage. The Group also offers some
of its employees stationed in the PRC with dormitory accommodation.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had not pledged any assets to banks
to secure credit facilities granted to its subsidiaries (as at 31 December
2019: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

PLANS FOR SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND EXPECTED
SOURCE OF FUNDING

Save for those disclosed above in connection with capital commitments,
increase of registered capital in subsidiaries and capital for relocation plans
under the section “Liquidity and Financial Resources” and “Substantial
Investment”, the Group does not have any plan for material investments or
acquisition of capital assets.

The Group has sufficient financial and internal resources to pay the capital
commitments, capital expenditure for relocation plans, investment projects
and increased registered share capital described above. However, it is still
possible to pay the above capital expenditure commitments with bank
loans or internal resources of the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s segment information for the year ended 31
December 2020 is set out in note 3 to the financial statements.
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The board of Directors (the “Board”) of Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) believes that corporate governance is
essential to the success of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”). Good corporate governance can safeguard the
interests of all shareholders and enhance corporate value. Therefore, the
Board has adopted various measures to ensure that a high standard of
corporate governance is maintained.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors, the
Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Ltd. (the “Stock Exchange”) for the year ended
31 December 2020.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct for dealings in
securities of the Company by the Directors. Based on specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company confirms that all the Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code, throughout the
accounting period covered by the 2020 annual report.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The management has been delegated the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the management of the Group. In addition,
the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

No corporate governance committee has been established and so the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, developing, reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct to employees and Directors such as inside information
disclosure regulations and assuring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.
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The Board held 22 board meetings including 6 regular meetings and 16
ad-hoc meetings during the year ended 31 December 2020. The regular
board meetings were to consider, among other things, reviewing and
approving the interim and annual results of the Group, overall group
strategy, annual budgets, approval of major capital transactions and other
significant operational and financial matters. The ad-hoc meetings were
convened when circumstance required such as approving change board
lot size, capital expenses for construction or purchasing production
facilities, share repurchases, grant options to employees, set up of
research and development project and etc.

Details of the attendance of Directors at board meetings, annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) and other three board committees’
meetings (the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee) during the year 2020 are set out in the following
table:

EEeRHE_T-_TF+ _A=1T—HLEFER
BRI t_XREFEEH BEAKEHESS
ERMTANBRESESR THERRZR(H
TERB)BHLMERAEETRR2FRE  BEL
EEREE  FERE  HEERERRZREMERE
ERVBEE BRSBTS EBNETEEZEDIH
EEXNEBFEEEN HAEREIRBLEEREN
BEARRY - BBEER  BRTBEEGE T RIEAR

SIAEMAR e

R-Z_ZTF REENEFEEH  FARAKRERE
FRrEe((BRBEFAE) A =—EEFZEES
#(BERZES REZBELFMZES)NLE
HBEIIBNTE

No. of meetings attended/held
BRLREAY BIRY

Audit Nomination Remuneration

Board AGM Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors EEf Exe RRBFEAE ENREEE REZEE FHZEE
Executive Directors HITEE
Ms. Li Kei Ling (Chairman) FHRET(EE) 22/22 " - 4/4 7
Mr. Hung Yung Lai RRRNE & 22/22 11 - - -
Mr. Chen Shaojun RAELE 15/22 1M - - -
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Mr. Leung Hong Man REEEE 14/22 11 - - -
Independent Non-executive BUHNTEE

Directors

Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony LRELE 14/22 1M 3/3 3/4 11
Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi £ & 12/22 1M 3/3 4/4 1M1
Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan MWHREZ T 14/22 1M 3/3 3/4 11
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At least 14 days’ notice of regular board meeting is given to all Directors.
The agenda and board papers are sent to the Directors at least 3 days
before the meetings of the Board and board committees so that the
Directors have the time to review the documents. Directors can include
matters for discussion in the agenda if the need arises. Minutes of
meetings of the Board and board committees are recorded in sufficient
details that matters considered and decisions reached. The draft and final
versions of the minutes will be sent to Directors within a reasonable time
after the meetings. Minutes of meetings of the Board and board
committees are kept by the company secretary of the Company and open
for inspection on reasonable notice by any Directors.

All Directors are entitled to have unrestricted access to the advice and
service of the company secretary with a view to ensuring that board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Upon
reasonable request and appropriate circumstances, Directors can seek
independent professional advice to assist them to discharge their duties, at
the Company’s expenses.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board had determined to
be material, the matter will be dealt with by holding a board meeting with
the presence of disinterested Independent Non-executive Directors or a
meeting of a board committee set up for that purpose pursuant to a
resolution passed in a board meeting.

BOARD COMPQOSITION

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, of whom three are
Executive Directors, one is Non-executive Director and three are
Independent Non-executive Directors. The composition meets the
requirement of the Listing Rules for the Board to have at least one-third in
number of its members comprising Independent Non-executive Directors.
The three Independent Non-executive Directors are persons of high
caliber, with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of
accounting and business management respectively. With their experience
gained from senior positions held in other organizations, they provide
strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board. The biographies of the Directors are set out in
pages 47 to 50 to the 2020 annual report, which demonstrates the skills,
expertise, experience and qualifications of the Directors.
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The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from the
three Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and
concluded that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.

Ms. Li Kei Ling, the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Hung Yung Lai, one of
the Executive Directors, are directors and ultimate shareholders of several
private companies incorporated in Hong Kong and British Virgin Islands.

Save as disclosed above, the Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with each other. The
balanced Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence
exists across the Board which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are willing to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution into the Board remains

informed and relevant.

The Directors are committed to complying with the CG Code A.6.5 on
Directors’ training. All Directors had participated in continuous professional
development and provided a record of training they received for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended
31 December 2020 is set out below:

Briefings and updates on
the listing rules, business,
operations, and corporate

governance matters
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Attending or participating
in seminars/conferences
relevant to the

management or business

BELTRE - ¥  EER HERSMEEER
Directors Ex CEEAERECERREN ERERZEE g3
Ms. Li Kei Ling THB LT v -
Mr. Hung Yung Lai REEIIS A v -
Mr. Chen Shaojun BRIRE v v
Mr. Leung Hong Man 2REAE 4 -
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony BRI A 4 -
Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi %t 4 v -
Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan MBAELZ T v v
APPOINTMENTS AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS BEERERESR

The nomination committee will consider the appointment of new Directors
first by reviewing the profiles of the candidates and making
recommendations to the Board. New Directors appointed by the Board
during the year to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall
retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first general meeting

immediately followed their appointment.

Non-executive Directors are appointed for a fixed term of two years and
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at
annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles”).

According to the Company’s Articles, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years at the annual general meeting. All retiring
Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on his first appointment to have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Group and that he is fully aware of
his responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules,
applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the
business and governance policies of the Company. The Directors
endeavour to give sufficient time and attention to the Group’s affairs and
are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, business
and market changes and the strategic development of the Group to

facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.

The Independent Non-executive Directors take an active role in board
meetings, contribute to the development of strategies and policies and
make sound and independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and standard of
conduct. They will take lead where potential conflicts of interests arise.
They are also members of various board committees and scrutinize the
overall performance of the Group in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

The management has the obligation to supply the Board with monthly
updates and adequate information to enable it to make informed decisions
on matters placed before it. Where any Director requires more information
than is volunteered by the management, each Director has separate and
independent access to the Group’s management to make further enquires
if necessary. Where queries are raised by Directors, management will

respond as promptly and fully as possible.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision of the CG Code A.2.1, the roles of the chairman (the
“Chairman”) and the chief executive officer (the “CEQO”) should be
separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The Board
has appointed Ms. Li Kei Ling as the Chairman. She has executive
responsibilities and provides leadership to the Board such as ensuring all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings and
received complete and reliable information in a timely manner so that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities. Mr. Chen
Shaojun was appointed by the Board as the CEO of the Company and has
been delegated with the authority and responsibility for implementing the
Board’s policies and the Group’s daily business operations and
management. The CEO will periodically present the updated market
situation, long term strategies and objectives of the Group, quarterly results
variances analysis between the actual performances and the budget
targets to the Board at the board meeting. This helps the Board to monitor
the Group’s business operations and to adjust the targets when required.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The management provides explanation and information to the Board so as
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and
other information put before the approval by the Board.

The Directors and CEO acknowledge their responsibility to prepare
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and in presenting the interim and annual
financial statements and announcements to shareholders. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Board
therefore continues to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the
accounts.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to present a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules,
and reports to the regulators as well as the information required to be

disclosed pursuant to the statutory requirements.

The responsibilities of the auditors to the shareholders are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72 to 78.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness
at least annually through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and corporate governance roles
in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance, risk management and
internal controls, and the resourcing of the finance and internal audit
functions.

The CEO and senior management of the Group is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems. Appropriate policies and controls have been set
and established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper
use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and
complied with, reliable financial and accounting records are maintained in
accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting
requirements, and key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance
are appropriately identified and managed. However the systems and
internal controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Group’s internal control system is designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and unauthorized disposition and to manage
operational risks. Of which including:

(1)  establishing written policies and work flow for major operations and
production cycles to ensure compliance with applicable laws,
regulations, and industry standards;

(2) clearly defined the authorities and key responsibilities of each
business and operational unit, having in place appropriate
segregation of duties and setting proper authorization levels to
ensure adequate checks and balances; and

(8)  Rules and guidelines are set to control treasury activities, financial
and management reporting, human resources functions and

computer systems’ operations.
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The Group’s risk management framework includes the following elements:

(i) identify significant risks in the Group’s operation environment and
evaluate the impacts of those risks on the Group’s business;

(i)  develop necessary measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such
risks; and

(i) monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The Group has embedded its risk management systems into the core
operating practices of the business. On an ongoing basis, business and
operational units assess and identify their potential risks which may impact
on their ability to achieve their business objectives and/or those of the
Group. The head of each unit has to complete relevant risk and control
self-assessment questionnaires and confirm to the CEO that appropriate
internal control policies and procedures have been established and
properly complied with. CEO conducts review of the effectiveness of risk
management annually and presents report to the Audit Committee after

review.

In addition, the Board monitors and reviews the adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal control systems through a programme of
internal audit. The internal audit department is set up by the Company to
review the major operational and financial control of the Group in
compliance with the established processes and standards on a continuing
basis and aims to cover all major operations of the Group on a rotational
basis. The internal audit department reports directly to the Chairman of the
Board and the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee examines the
internal audit department’s review and opinions about operational
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system and reports to the
Board.

During 2020, based on the internal audit report and the risk management
report presented by internal audit department and CEO respectively, the
Audit Committee and the Board were not aware of any areas of concern
that would have a material impact on the Group’s financial position or
results of operations and considered the risk management and internal
control systems to be generally effective and adequate including the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions.
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INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Company has established policy to ensure that inside information is
disseminated to the public in an equal and timely manner in accordance
with applicable laws and regulations. Access to inside information is at all
times confined to relevant senior management executed on “as needed”
basis, until proper disclosure or dissemination of inside information is made
in accordance with applicable laws and regulation. Relevant personnel and
other professional parties involved are reminded to preserve confidentiality
of the inside information until it is publicly disclosed.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The day-to-day management of the Group is delegated to the
management by the Board, with division heads responsible for individual
department’s daily operations.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the
management include the preparation of interim and annual reports and
announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing, execution of
business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation
of adequate systems of internal controls and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and

regulations.
BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the nomination committee, remuneration
committee and audit committee. The committees’ terms of references
defined their functions and responsibilities have been posted on the

Company’s website.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2020, the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) had Ms. Li Kei Ling as the committee’s
chairman, and the three Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Lo
Tung Sing Tony, Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan as
the committee’s members. The Nomination Committee’s terms of

reference are summarized as follows:

(1)  to review the structure, size and composition (including the skill,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
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(2)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and to select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(8) to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors;
and

(4)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Nomination Committee adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to ethnicity,
working experience, professional skills, knowledge and length of service.
The Company believes that increasing diversity at the Board level is an
important part of achieving its strategic objectives and to attract and retain
the best people. Appointments to the Board shall be on merit, in the
context of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires to be
effective, and against objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits
of diversity. There are many considerations that factor into the Nomination
Committee’s nomination process including legal requirements, best
practices, and skills required to complement the Board’s skill set and the
number of Directors needed to discharge the duties of the Board and its
Committees. But it will not set any restrictions like gender, age, cultural or
educational background when short listing candidates. The Company
believes that a truly diverse Board will include and make good use of
differences in the skills, regional and industry experience, background and
other qualities of Directors. The Nomination Committee shall review the
diversity of the Board at least annually taking into account the Group’s
business model and specific needs and shall monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and, if appropriate, make recommendations
on proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee recommends candidates for nomination to the
Board, which approves the final choice of candidates. The Nomination
Committee was responsible to maintain the nomination policy of the
Company (the “Nomination Policy”) and review the same from time to time.
The objective of the Nomination Policy is to assist the Company in fuffilling
its duties and responsibilities as provided in its terms of reference. This
Nomination Policy sets out, inter alia, the selection criteria and the
evaluation procedures in nominating candidates to be appointed or
reappointed as Directors of the Company. The Nomination Committee
shall consider any and all candidates recommended as nominees for
Directors to the Committee by any Directors or Shareholders of the
Company in accordance with the Articles. The Nomination Committee may
also undertake its own search process for candidates and may retain the
services of professional search firms or other third parties to assist in
identifying and evaluating potential nominees. The Nomination Committee
shall endeavour to find individuals of high integrity who possess the
qualifications, qualities, skills, experience and independence (in case of
Independent Non-executive Directors) to effectively represent the best
interests of all Shareholders. Candidates will be selected for their ability to
exercise good judgment, and to provide practical insights and diverse
perspectives. The Nomination Committee may use any process it deems
appropriate for the purpose of evaluating candidates including personal
interviews, background checks, written submission by the candidates and
third party references. As far as practicable, nominees for each election or
appointment of Directors shall be evaluated using a substantially similar
process. The Nomination Committee believes that independence is an
important part of fulfilling the Directors’ duty to supervise the management
of the business and affairs of the Company. Non-executive Directors and
Executive Directors are required to disclose his/her competing businesses
to the Company. Cross-directorships in Hong Kong or overseas between
Directors are also reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee is
accountable for assessing whether any competing businesses or
interlocking directorships could materially interfere with the exercise of
objective and unfettered judgement by relevant Directors or their ability to
act in the best interests of the Group.

During the year 2020, the Nomination Committee had four meetings to
review the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, the
renewal of Directors’ letter of appointment and the qualification of
candidate for re-election in the AGM.

Corporate Governance Report

ANy
ERER®ME

REBE
REZBEENEFZTSHBRAEEA HEZIE
BEENE - REZEQRARRFAQFMNIERR
R(MREEEK]) U TRHRARFETIR < 2%
HERBBEAWMBARRRETERBEREERREN
BE - AREERRE (AT R REGFERELE
BRARNBEEZ NENFFERERFGEESF - R
BARAMERAR REZEeREEHIAA
AREFIBRAZBERZENEALABESFIK
BA-REZEENABETSHKEEARAREERE
EAFPNREME =T ORBE A BN & KaFh
BEENREA REZBESERNVWERETE
WHEBER BHE - Wit EREELME(WABL
FRTER)NMALIMAZEZE  UBRRRAER
RORENZ - HEARFOHAE ) - lRATE
RO RERZ T CBHNENNBREA - REZE
BANEAERBEEN AT HEEA - BFEE
A BRREE  REANRAERE=T75E - BX
BRYAZEEEN  EEFRNUABEBNIREF
BIEREA - RERZEEAR HEBUMRETES
BE UEBEAQRNEBREHNEEN—EE
2ED  FRTEEMRITESTARBEELELARF
MBEFER REZBSTERESNEBLEIN
MBEEERBEEFRT - REZEQAANHE
EREXERFEBLMBESRG  EAXEHR
BITRERELEBLTIZHRIPRE - AEER
S &EF

R-Z_ZFF RBEZEBRTTOASHTESE
VRMTEEFNB UM  EFEERNEDR RN
RBAFAGEEZIREANER

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 —Z—Z4«43 41



Corporate Governance Report

ANy
ERERHME

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2020, the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) had Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi, an
Independent Non-executive Director, as the committee’s chairman, Ms. Li
Kei Ling, and two Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Lo Tung Sing
Tony and Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan as the committee’s members. The
Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference are summarized as follows:

(i) to recommend to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure of
all Directors and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing

remuneration policy;

(i)  to determine with delegated responsibility from the Board, the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and senior

management;

(i)  to review and approve compensation payable to Executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or

appointment;

(iv)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

(v)  to ensure that no Director or any of her/his associates is involved in

deciding her/his own remuneration.

The Group’s remuneration policy bases on the market practice, the
qualification, duties and responsibilities of Directors and employees. In
order to attract, retain, and motivate high-performance persons, the
Company has adopted share option scheme to reward those participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
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The Board considers that the Executive Directors of the Company, CEO
and the financial controller are the key management personnel of the
Group. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate emoluments
payable to Directors, CEO and the financial controller were within the
following bands:
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Details of the amount of Directors’ and chief executive officer’s
emoluments are set out in note 8 to the financial statements and the
details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.

The Remuneration Committee had one meeting in 2020 to determine the

bonus of director and senior management.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) which was
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the
purpose of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls. The Audit Committee comprises
three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company who among
themselves possess a wealth of management experience in the accounting
profession, commercial, medical and pharmaceutical sectors.

As at 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee’s chairman was Mr. Lo
Tung Sing Tony, while Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee
Joan were the committee’s members. The Audit Committee’s terms of
reference are summarized as follows:

(i) to consider and recommend to the Board the independence,
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors;

(i)  to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and to deal with any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;
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(i) to review financial information; and

(iv)  to oversee financial reporting system, risks management and internal

control system.

During the year 2020, the Audit Committee had three meetings, two of
which were held with external auditors without presence of Executive
Directors. The work performed by the Audit Committee for the year ended
31 December 2020 is summarized below:

—
—

) reviewed the external auditors’ independence, the terms of
engagement and approved the remuneration of the external auditors;

(2)  reviewed the annual audit plan of the external auditors and discussed
with them about the nature and scope of the audit;

(8) reviewed the Group’s interim financial information and annual
financial statements, before submission to the Board, discussed the
financial reporting matters and any areas of concerns during the
audits, including but not limited to the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices, and on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements;

(4)  reviewed internal audit report and annual audit plan of the internal
audit department and the effectiveness of internal audit function, risk

management and internal control systems.
The audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee before
recommending them to the Board for approval.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Ernst and Young has been reappointed as the Company’s external
auditors at the AGM on 29 May 2020 until the conclusion of the next AGM.
During the year 2020, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s
external auditors in respect of services provided is as follows:

Fees for statutory audit service amounted to RMB2,200,000

Fees for non-statutory audit service amounted to RMBO
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Pang Kit Ling, the company secretary of the Company, is a full time
employee of the Group. During the year, the company secretary of the
Company confirmed that she had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s memorandum and articles of

association during the year ended 31 December 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Articles 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one
or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the shareholder(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the shareholder(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the shareholder(s) by the Company.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles of Association of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move a
resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting

following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards, proposing a person for election as a director, please refer to
the procedures available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communications with all
shareholders. The Company establishes and maintains different
communication channels with its shareholders through the publication of
annual and interim reports. Our corporate website which contains
corporate information, corporate governance practice, interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars issued by the Company enables the
Company’s shareholders to have timely and updated information of the
Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate
directly with the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board attends the
AGM and arranges the chairman of the committees or in the absence of
the chairman of such committees, another member of the committees to
be available to answer questions at the AGM. The Chairman proposes
separate resolutions for each issue to be considered, including the election
of Directors, and put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll.
Voting results are posted on the Company’s website on the day of AGM.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LI, Kei Ling, aged 72, is an Executive Director and Chairman of the
Company. Ms. Li is one of the founders of the Group. She founded the
Group in December 1995 and was appointed to the Board in October
2002. She was also the chief executive officer of the Company from 1
March 2015 to 17 April 2016. Ms. Li is also the Chairman of Dawnrays
International Co., Ltd., Dawnrays International Company Limited (5 ¥ B
f% 3 A& BR A 7)), Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Su Zhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd., Dawnrays
(Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd., Fujian
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and Technology
Co., Ltd., Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Ltd., which are all subsidiaries of the Company. She is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee. Ms. Li has over twenty years of experience in
corporate management, strategic planning, business operations and
finance, in particular for pharmaceutical enterprises in the PRC. She is
responsible for supervising the strategic management decisions to ensure
good corporate governance practices and business policies are
established, and executing the overall developmental strategies of the
Group.

Mr. HUNG, Yung Lai, aged 76, is an Executive Director of the Company
and one of the founders of the Group. Mr. Hung founded the Group in
December 1995 and was appointed to the Board in October 2002. Mr.
Hung also holds directorship in Dawnrays International Co., Ltd., Dawnrays
Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Ltd., Dawnrays International Company Limited
(BRI AR (D AR A7), Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Su
Zhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd.,
Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and Technology Co., Ltd.,
Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., and Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Ltd., which are all subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hung
holds a degree from _E/& & £4E3F7 (Shanghai Conservatory of Music). He
has over twenty years of experience in corporate management and
corporate development, and has participated in founding and managing of
pharmaceutical and high-tech enterprises. Mr. Hung is an executive
director and the chairman of Sing Lee Software (Group) Ltd., a company
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Hung is
a director and chairman of AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., an associate of
the Group.
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Mr. CHEN, Shaojun, aged 43, is an Executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company. He joined the sales and marketing
department of Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Company Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, in August 2002 as area manager and was
responsible for developing area market of the Group’s new specific
medicines and managing sales business. Mr. Chen has long specialized in
sales promotion, network building, brand upgrading, planning and
managing of business development in China pharmaceutical market. He
has accumulated almost twenty years of experience in pharmaceutical
sales and marketing and corporate development and management. Mr.
Chen was appointed as executive vice president of the Company in
December 2014 and became the chief executive officer of the Company
on 18 April 2016 to take charge of daily business operations of the Group.
Mr. Chen was appointed as Executive Director of the Company on 8
January 2018. Mr. Chen also holds directorship in Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Su Zhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., Dawnrays (Nantong) Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Lanzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd., and Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. which are all subsidiaries of the Company. He is also
the general manager of Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEUNG, Hong Man, aged 46, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He joined the Group and was appointed to the Board in
November 2005. Mr. Leung has started his business career in knitting
machinery since 1993. He has over ten years experience in sales and
management and also over ten years experience in finance and property
investments. In recent years, Mr. Leung has strived to exploit business in
hi-tech agriculture and arts and cultural industries. Mr. Leung currently is
the shareholder and the director of Toyo International Investment Ltd.,
which has been one of the substantial shareholders (as required to be
disclosed under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) of the
Company since September 2005.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LO, Tung Sing Tony, aged 52, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in October 2010. He is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company respectively.
Mr. Lo has extensive experience in financial management and business
development in Hong Kong and multinational companies. He obtained his
Bachelor degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong and Master of Science in Financial Management from The
University of London. Mr. Lo is an associate member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a full member of CPA
Australia. He currently holds the position of the Head of Corporate

Accounting and Taxation at The Hong Kong Jockey Club.

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi, aged 62, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. EDE joined the Group in June 2015 and was
appointed as a Non-executive Director. He was re-designated as an
Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company with effect from 1 July 2017. Mr. EDE has
extensive experience in financial and business management in multinational
companies. He obtained his Bachelor degree in Business Administration
from The University of Hawaii and a Master of Business Administration
degree from The University of Washington. He is also a fellow member of
the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. Mr. EDE was appointed
as Mindray Medical International Ltd’s independent director and chairman
of the audit committee in January 2017. Mr. EDE currently holds the
position of Executive Director and chief financial officer of Innovent
Biologics Inc. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited).
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EENGREEEEBE

Ms. LAM, Ming Yee Joan, aged 53, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Ms. Lam joined the Group in May 2018. She is a
member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company respectively. Ms. Lam earned her
bachelor degree in accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. She is
a certified public accountant in Hong Kong. Ms. Lam has extensive
experience in the finance and accounting field, gained from major

international financial institutions and listed company in Hong Kong.
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WU, Yijun, aged 57, is the Financial Controller of the Group. Mr. Wu
is responsible for the Group’s financial management including financial
planning, capital budgeting, execution of costing, budget planning and
monitoring. Mr. Wu holds directorship in Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., Nanjing PharmaRays Science and Technology Co., Ltd. and
Guangzhou PharmaRays Science and Technology Co., Ltd. which are all
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wu obtained a Bachelor degree of
Accountancy from Nanjing Audit Institute (renamed as Nanjing Audit
University in 2015). He attained economist and senior accountant
qualification in the PRC. Mr. Wu has over thirty years’ experience in
auditing, budgeting, financial management, corporate banking, economic
management and PRC’s taxation regulations. Mr. Wu joined the Group in
December 2002.
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The board of Directors (the “Board”) herein present their report and the
audited financial statements of Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company aims to provide its shareholders with a target annual
dividend payout ratio between 25% to 50% of the profit after tax
attributable to owners of the parent in any financial year subject to the
following factors:

1. the Company’s actual and expected cash flow positions and financial
performance;

2. projected capital expenditure, future expansion plans and growth
opportunities;

3. the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant
financial covenants;

4. general economic conditions and business cycle of the Group’s core
business;

5. general expectation of shareholders and investors of the Company;
and

6.  any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board will declare dividends semi-annually. The payment of final
dividend is subject to the approval of Shareholders and scrip dividend
distribution option also may be provided for the election of the
Shareholders in relation to the payment of final dividend in any financial
year. This dividend policy and the declaration and/or payment of dividends
under this policy are subject to the Board’s continuing determination that
this dividend policy and the declaration and/or payment of dividends would
be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders, and are in
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

Report of the Directors
EEgRE

EFe((EFg ) REHEFERE AR IR (F
B)BRAR(TART ) REKERR (G [ AL

BDEE_T-_FTF+= E+*E¢¢F§E@%&$
R BIHE -

ARAMEIBEBER/REZER - MERARMNIEE
BRABEIINHERERM T - AEBERFANTIR
REHE

RRBBANEMHBFERERRRENERR

B ANBRTIZ R T8 25%-50% B F E K S LBl -
HERRNIATEZE

1. ARANERLEHRS R EABERR
2. TERHEARRN  KRRERFFEILIERES
3. AEEABEMSILE  BRADKRXMAABEYG

24

4. EBEREEREAEEZOEBNERBY
5. ARFBRREKEENERHE : K

6. EFERREENEMHEMBESE-

E=g8EYFEIRRE - REKBMIKEARTR
RHLAE - 1A 2 B 75 AT e P AR B B4R 2t R AR
BHURFRUABRRBEDIKERARBREE - &
FEEREBEFITAREBRREARBEABEE IR
R/ SRR - AHEEARRBBRARE IR
K/ SHRBH R E AN EE KRR FKERNE - I
TP AERERNOER o

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 —Z—Z4«43 51



Report of the Directors
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
audited financial statements on pages 79 to 201.

An interim dividend of HK$0.015 per ordinary share was paid on 7 October
2020. The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.05
per ordinary share and a special dividend of HK$0.05 per ordinary share in
respect of the year, to shareholders on the register of members on 2 June
2021. This recommendation has been incorporated in the financial
statements as an allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December 2020 are
presented in “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 5 to 11 and pages 12 to 19 respectively. The “Financial
Review” on pages 20 to 28 also includes an analysis of the Group’s
financial key performance indicators during the year. Future developments
in the Group’s business are disclosed in “Chairman’s Statement” on pages
6 to 10 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 17.

The applicable discussion and analysis as cross-referenced above shall
form an integral part of this Report of the Directors.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 2 February 2021, Dawnrays Biotechnology entered into a loan
agreement with AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., pursuant to which
Dawnrays Biotechnology has agreed to provide an unsecured loan in a
principal amount of RMB84 million with an interest rate of 3.5% to AD

Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. for a term of five years.

On 17 December 2020, Dawnrays International and Xiangbei Welman
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Xiangbei Welman”), an independent third party,
entered into a joint venture contract, and Xiangbei Welman held 5% of
shares in Lanzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., amounting to
US$2.5 million, by way of capital contribution. The first instalment of the
investment of Xiangbei Welman amounting to RMB4.8 million
(approximately USD740,000) was paid in March 2021 in accordance with

the joint venture contract.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Details about the Group’s financial risk management objectives and

policies are disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements. The following

risks and uncertainties may affect the results and business operations of

the Group, some of which are inherent to pharmaceutical sector and some

are from external sources.

U]

2

DRUG APPROVAL PROCESS IN RELATION TO PRODUCTS
UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The actual timing of the market launch of products under
development could vary significantly from our estimates due to a
number of factors including delays or failures in our pre-clinical
studies or clinical trials, the lengthy approval process and the
uncertainties in the outcome of regulatory approval process. If any of
the necessary approvals in relation to products under development
is delayed or not obtained, this could adversely affect the timing of
the market launch of the products. The Group is committed to
investing in research and development of new drugs in order to
ensure a rich product pipeline.

TENDER AND PRICE CONTROL

The Group has to participate in a government-led tender process
every year or every few years. In the event that the Group fails to win
the tender in a tender process, the sale of the Group’s products to
public hospitals in such provinces will be prohibited and the Group
will lose market share of that part. In addition, certain new methods
have been recently adopted in the tender process for centralized
procurement of drugs, which may exert further downward pressure
against the price of pharmaceutical products and the Group’s market
share, revenue and profitability may be adversely affected. The
Group has a team of staff monitoring and handling the drug tenders
with the objective of winning the tenders for the Group’s products at
a desirable price level.
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4

HEALTHCARE REFORM IN CHINA

The healthcare system in the PRC is undergoing a crucial reform
period, where laws, regulations and policies in effect governing the
medical, healthcare and pharmaceutical industry are constantly
evolving. New policies implementation may have material effects to
the Group. It may also incur significant costs, divert the resources
and attention of the management and thus leading to more
uncertainties and risks in respect of the Group’s business and
operation.

PRC ENVIRONMENTAL AND SAFETY REGULATIONS

The PRC government amends relevant laws, rules and regulations
from time to time in order to impose a more stringent standard for
environmental and safety protection. The Group is subject to such
laws, rules and regulations including but not limited to those in
relation to the discharge of gaseous waste, liquid waste and solid
waste, noise pollution and the safety of the workers during the
manufacturing process. Any violation of these laws, rules or
regulations may result in substantial fines, criminal sanctions,
revocation of operating permits, shutdown of the production facilities
and obligations to take corrective measures.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Board is well aware of the importance of environmental protection on

the Group’s sustainability and stable development. The Group strives to

improve product quality while achieving the best balance between cost

control and environmental protection, devotes to be a resource-saving and

environment-friendly enterprise with low energy and resources

consumption and low level of discharge on wastages. The Group has

established an environmental management system to promote clean

production, to reduce pollution and to reduce the risk of environmental

accidents. The Group also evaluates environmental and social risks of its

suppliers on a regular basis to ensure the safety of its supply chains.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules will be
announced on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Company’s website within three months after the publication of the annual
report of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors and management are aware, for the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group has complied in all material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business

and operations of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

(1) EMPLOYEES
Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are reasonable
remunerated and also continues to improve and regularly review and
update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety. The staff and remuneration policy are
presented in “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 28.

(20 SUPPLIERS

The Group has established a supplier management system to
handpick suppliers through a screening and evaluation process
based on quality and price. Furthermore, the Group also carries out
field audit on its suppliers when necessary, with a view to make
endeavor to ensure its suppliers are equipped to provide guarantees
on quality, as well as safety and other environmental issues that
require managerial skills. Such audit cover a number of areas,
including productivity, technical standards, quality assurance, supply
capability, as well as safety and environmental management
credentials.
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(3) DISTRIBUTORS

The Group sells some of products to customers through third-party
distributors. The Group works closely with distributors to ensure that
the Group shares the view for upholding brand value and customer
services, specifically focusing on attracting and retaining customers
in order to drive sales growth. The Group also requires distributors to
comply with the Group’s policies and promotional activities
standards. The Group also monitors the financial condition and
repayment history of distributors.

(4) CUSTOMERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
constantly endeavours to deliver quality products and services to its
customers. The Group also directs dedicated efforts to deal with
complaints about relevant products and has established relevant
processes to handle complaints. In addition the Group has assigned
staff to investigate customers’ complaint cases and provide timely
feedbacks in order to safeguard customers’ benefits.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 46 of the annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy bases on the market practice, the
qualification, duties and responsibilities of Directors and employees. Other
fringe benefits, including defined contribution retirement schemes, share
option scheme and medical cover are also provided.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals
during the year are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements, is set out on page 202. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

DONATION

During the year, the Group made charitable donation amounting to
RMB2,086,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LAND LEASE

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and land lease of
the Company and the Group during the year are set out in notes 14 and

15 to the financial statements, respectively.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

The Group did not have interest-bearing bank loans as at 31 December
2020.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED

SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, the Company repurchased 48,119,000 shares of the

Company’s listed securities on The Stock Exchange at an aggregate

consideration of HK$53,204,200 before expenses. The Directors believe

that the repurchases reflect the Company’s confidence in its long term

business prospects and would ultimately benefit the Company and for the

enhancement of shareholder value in the long term. The repurchased

shares, of which 37,911,000 shares were cancelled in 2020 and the

remaining 10,208,000 shares were cancelled on 14 January 2021. The

monthly breakdown of shares repurchased during the year was as follows:

Month of Repurchase BE A%

January 2020 —E-FF—AM
August 2020 —E-FTFENAH
September 2020 —EEFNAM
October 2020 ZEFTF+AH
November 2020 ZETFE+—AH
December 2020 —E-ETF+ Al
Total @t

=
IR
,?lmﬂH
|l
égl/_

FAN - ARAE

BT

FT8E 121 48,119,000 F& A A 7] |
MEH - Rt HBERA 2 2R E /B 53,204,200
L BERA BROBEERRAA ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁt#%ﬁ
RIS ZEDL  &ERBARNARTSREERABIES

RREFIZEMIEL o B8 B % E 37,911,000 %
ER-ZZE_ZTFRNEH - F£210,208,0000% 2 7=
Z—F—A+WNBFE RERNGAEBDRG 2

The highest The lowest Aggregate

Number price paid price paid consideration

of Shares per share per share paid

repurchased (HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
sREMN sREAN

BEER RIKER HBRE

BEROHE (B¥) (B¥) (B

2,267,000 1.47 1.39 3,257,000

1,872,000 0.92 0.90 1,704,880

5,372,000 1.02 0.90 5,038,760

8,696,000 0.95 0.86 7,798,400

14,448,000 1.10 0.87 14,013,080

15,464,000 1.49 112 21,392,080

48,119,000 53,204,200

BEXHEEIN BE_Z-_TF+_H=+—H

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities for

the year ended 31 December 2020.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 34 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2020 the Company’s reserves available for distribution
amounted to RMB176,238,000, of which RMB62,655,000 has been
proposed as a final dividend for the year and RMB62,655,000 has been
proposed as a special dividend for the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 19.82% of the total sales for the year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to 4.57%. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 30.60% of the total purchases
for the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 12.50%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Li Kei Ling

Mr. Hung Yung Lai

Mr. Chen Shaojun

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Leung Hong Man

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi

Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan

In accordance with the article 87 of the Company’s articles of association
(the “Articles”), Mr. Chen Shaojun, Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam
Ming Yee Joan will retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for
re- election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”).

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony, Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi and Ms. Lam Ming Yee
Joan and as at the date of this report still considers them to be

independent.
DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

The Board considers the executive directors of the Company, CEO and
the financial controller are the key management personnel of the Group.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the financial

controller are set out on pages 47 to 50 of the annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Li Kei Ling entered into a service contract with the Company for a term
of two years which commenced on 1 July 2003. Ms. Li's service contract
was renewed for a term of three years which commenced on 1 July 2005
and continued thereafter for successive terms of three years. Her
appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice. Ms. Li is currently entitled to director’s fee
and other remuneration from the Group totally HK$1,162,800 per year.

Mr. Hung Yung Lai entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years which commenced on 1 July 2003. Mr. Hung’s service
contract was renewed for a term of three years which commenced on 1
July 2005 and continued thereafter for successive terms of three years. His
appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice. Mr. Hung is currently entitled to director’s fee
and other remuneration from the Group totally HK$742,800 per year.

Mr. Chen Shaojun entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of two years which commenced on 8 January 2018 and continued
thereafter for successive terms of two years. His appointment is subject to
termination by either party giving not less than two months’ written notice.
Mr. Chen is currently entitled to an annual basic salary and other
remuneration from the Group totally HK$1,821,705 and a discretionary

bonus payable at the absolute discretion of the Board from time to time.

Mr. Leung Hong Man entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of two years which commenced on 1 November 2005
and continued thereafter for successive terms of two years. Mr. Leung is
currently entitled to a basic annual remuneration of HK$300,000. Mr.
Leung’s appointment is subject to termination by either party giving not
less than one month’s written notice. Save for the above director’s fee, Mr.

Leung is not entitled to any other remuneration.
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Mr. Lo Tung Sing Tony entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of two years which commenced on 1 October 2010
and continued thereafter for successive terms of two years. Mr. EDE,
Ronald Hao Xi entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of two years commenced on 15 June 2015. As Mr. EDE was re-
designated as Independent Non-executive Director, he entered into a new
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of two years
commenced on 1 July 2017 and continued thereafter for successive terms
of two years. Ms. Lam Ming Yee Joan entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of two years which commenced on 25 May
2018 and continued thereafter for successive terms of two years. Each of
Mr. Lo’s, Mr. EDE’s and Ms. Lam’s appointment is respectively subject to
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s written notice.
Each of Mr. Lo, Mr. EDE and Ms. Lam is currently entitled to an annual
remuneration of HK$360,000. Save for the above directors’ fees, the three
Independent Non-executive Directors are not entitled to any other

remuneration.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group. There was no
contract of significance between the Group, its controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into

or were in existence during the year.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

According to the Company’s competition and conflict of interest policy, a
board member’s serving as a director and/or officer of an entity that
competes with the Group’s business is involving a conflict of interest. A
director involves in such kind of conflict of interest shall not be present in
the meeting and participate in or be permitted to hear the Board’s
discussion of related matters. A director who has a conflict of interest with
respect to a contract or transaction that will be voted on at a meeting shall
not be counted in determining the presence of a quorum for purposes of
the vote.

Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi (Mr. EDE), an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company, has been serving as Executive Director and chief financial
officer of a listed company in Hong Kong. Part of that listed company’s
business is competing with the business of the Group’s associate and so
Mr. EDE is involving a conflict of interest under the Group’s competition
and conflict of interest policy. To avoid such a possible conflict, during the
year under review, upon agreement with Mr. EDE, he was not present or
abstain from voting in meetings when the Board discussed, decided and

voted on the matters and business with respect to the Group’s associate.

Except abovementioned, in the opinion of the Directors, none of the
Directors, the substantial shareholders of the Company and any of their
respective close associates has engaged in any businesses that competes
or may compete, either directly or indirectly with the business of the Group
or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year under
review which are required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director is entitled to be indemnified out of
the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses
and liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution and/
or discharge of his duties and/or the exercise of his powers and/or
otherwise in relation to or in connection with his duties, powers or offices,

to the extent as permitted by laws.

The Company has acquired insurance coverage on Directors’ and officers’
liabilities which provides certain indemnities against liabilities incurred in
respect of any legal actions which may be taken against Directors and
officers in the execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

After the expiry of the Company’s 2003 share option scheme, the
Company adopted another share option scheme which was approved by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting on 24 May 2013 and was
effective on 21 June 2013 (the “2013 Share Option Scheme” or “Scheme”).
The Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from the effective date until
20 June 2023 with purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
persons (including the Company’s Directors, Independent Non-executive
Directors, employees of the Group and other eligible participants as
defined under the 2013 Share Option Scheme) who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. As the shareholders of the Company
approved share sub-division, the number and exercise price of share
options and the closing price of the Company’s shares at immediate date
before the grant had been adjusted on 6 August 2018. The detailed
disclosures relating to the Scheme including the purposes and the eligible
participants of the Scheme and valuation of options are set out in note 33
to financial statements. The total number of shares available for issue
under the Scheme is 158,956,800 shares which representing
approximately 10.62% of the issued share capital of the Company at the
date of this annual report.
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Movements of Company’s share options under the Scheme during the RER - ZetElFmA QG EREZE T -
year were as follows:
Number of share options
BRESE
Closing
price of the
Company’s
Date of Exercise Exercise shares at
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At grant of share period of price of immediate
1 January during during during 31 December options (a) share options share  date before
2020 the year theyear  the year (d) 202  (dd/mm/yy) (dd/mm/yy) options (b)  the grant (c)
SERLE
R B RUBRE g ga-%
Neme o category “%o%s e L AEER MRR  ADARD
of participant SaAERAEN -B-B  EmERE  FRBAE  ERBANW t=A=t-R (B/B/%) (B/B/%) EEL)  WHER(©)
HKS HK$
% E%
Director EZ
Mr. Chen Shaojun (g) RAERE 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 08/01/15  08/01/16-07/01/21 2575 2485
6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 18/03/15  18/03/16-17/03/21 2635 2575
4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 16/04/15  16/04/16-15/04/21 3670 3.585
32,000,000 - - (16,000,000 16,000,000 280819 311219-31112/20 1.380 1.300
32,000,000 - - - 32,000,000 28/08/19  01/05/22-30/04/24 1.380 1.300
80,000,000 - - (16,000,000 64,000,000
Other employees HbER
In aggregate a3t 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000 - 170914 17/09/15-16/09/20 3220 3035
5,800,000 - - - 5,800,000 08/01/15  08/01/16-07/01/21 25715 2485
6,200,000 - - - 6,200,000 16/04/15  16/04/16-15/04/21 3670 3.585
1,200,000 - - - 1,200,000 2311145 23/1116-22/11/21 3190 3.185
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 /0616 11/05/17-10/05/22 3170 3145
10,500,000 - - (200,000 10,300,000 29117 29/11118-28/11/23 2125 2.0%
14,400,000 - - - 14,400,000 09/0119  09/01/20-08/01/25 1.500 1.460
15,400,000 - - - 15,400,000 2808119 28/08/20-27/08/25 1.380 1.300
- 16,000,000 - - 16,000,000 26008120 26/08/21-25/08/26 0.900 0.900
58,500,000 16,000,000 - (22000000 72,300,000
138,500,000 16,000,000 - (18200,0000 136,300,000

(@  The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the grant

until the commencement of the exercise period.

(b)  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in

the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the

Company’s share capital.

(c)  The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at immediate date

before the grant of the share options is the Stock Exchange closing

price on the trading day immediately prior to the date of grant of the

options.
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(d)  Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme due to
resignation of employees or still not exercised at the expiry date.

(e)  Mr. Chen Shaojun was appointed as chief executive officer of the
Company on 18 April 2016 and then was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company on 8 January 2018. 16,000,000 share
options were expired and lapsed on 1 January 2021.

During the year, no options granted under 2013 Share Option Scheme
were exercised by any directors or any employees or were cancelled.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

Name

28

Directors

=

Ms. Li Kei Ling
FHERL

Mr. Hung Yung Lai
RemiiB ST

Mr. Leung Hong Man
ZEREE

Mr. Chen Shaojun
RAB %L

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of associated corporation:

Name of Director

ExEH
Ms. Li Kei Ling

FHX L

Mr. Hung Yung Lai
RRRbE R

Notes

p

©

Name of
associated

corporation

BEEE RS
Fortune United

Group Limited

Fortune United
Group Limited

Report of the Directors
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RARBEBERP TR

Number of ordinary shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FENROEE  BORERME

Directly Through
beneficially Share option controlled
owned granted corporation Total
BREH BBEF
EREHEER B AREE By
106,612,000 - 588,144,000 694,756,000
624,000 - 588,144,000 588,768,000
- - 100,800,000 100,800,000
20,180,000 64,000,000 - 84,180,000

Relationship
with the
Company

BEAQNRNBR

the Company’s
holding company

PN NE A N

the Company’s
holding company

PN NE A N

Number of
Ordinary
shares held

HAEBEREE

Capacity and
nature of interest

B RERTE

Through a controlled
corporation
B — ARSI A A

Through a controlled
corporation
A — ARSI A A

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital (%)
HIEARRT
ERITRAN
B (%)

45.86

38.86

6.65

5.56

PARBSEB ) KRR PR

Approximate
percentage of
the associated
corporation’s
issued share
capital (%)
G AR5
EBRITRAN
B2 (%)

50

50
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Notes:

() 588,144,000 shares of the Company are held by Fortune United Group
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Keysmart
Enterprises Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Kei Ling, and Hunwick
International Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Hung Yung Lai, are each
beneficially interested in 50% of the share capital of Fortune United Group
Limited.

(o) 100,800,000 shares of the Company are held by Toyo International
Investment Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Mr. Leung Hong
Man and Mr. Leung Yiu Sing are each beneficially interested in 50% of the
share capital of Toyo International Investment Limited.

(c) 20,180,000 shares of the Company are directly beneficially owned by Mr.
Chen Shaojun and 64,000,000 underlying shares are the share options
granted to him under the share option scheme of the Company. Mr. Chen is
deemed to be interested in the shares which will be issued to him upon his
exercise of options, representing approximately 4.28% of the Company’s
issued share capital as at the date of this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or Chief Executive Officer had registered an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share option scheme”, “Directors’
and Chief Executive Officer’s interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares” above and in the share option scheme disclosures in
note 33 to the financial statements, at no time during the year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other

body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the following interests or short positions in the

shares and underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the

register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to

Section 336 of the SFO:

Name

=L

Fortune United Group Limited

Keysmart Enterprises Limited

Hunwick International Limited

Mdm. lu Pun
P 2t

Mr. Li Tung Ming
FRAKE

Time Lead Investments Limited

Toyo International Investment
Limited
RBBRKERFR A A

Mdm. Lo Mei Sai
EEWL LT

Mr. Leung Yiu Sing
RIBAK S

Notes

o

(©

(d)

Nature of interest

e e

Directly Beneficially owned
BEEREE=REAR

Through controlled corporation
paE R NSIES E]

Through controlled corporation
paE R NSIES E]

Family interest
KB

Directly Beneficially owned
BEEREnEAR

Through controlled corporation
FE R NSIES P E]

Directly Beneficially owned
BEEREE=HEAR

Directly Beneficially owned

Family interest
KBS

Through controlled corporation

BREHIARRA

Report of the Directors
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Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share  Long position/
Shares held capital (%) short position
HIEEDQT
BEW BERITRA
BROEE WEDLE (%) BHE KA

588,144,000 38.82  Long position
HE

588,144,000 38.82  Long Position
TR

588,144,000 38.82  Long Position
HE

588,768,000 38.86  Long Position
HE

224,000 0.02  Long Position
HE

80,000,000 5.28 Long Position
HE

80,000,000 5.28 Long Position
HE

100,800,000 6.65  Long Position
A

100,800,000 6.65 Long Position
A

105,128,000 6.94  Long Position

Sy
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Name Notes Nature of interest
28 M RERME

Mdm. Chu Shuet Fong Q) Family interest
KEFLZT ENEL

® Through controlled corporation
MBESAREE

FMR LLC (h) Through controlled corporation
RIBIEHIA RS

Notes:

(@  The issued capital of Fortune United Group Limited is equally beneficially
owned by Keysmart Enterprises Limited and Hunwick International Limited
which are in turn, respectively, wholly-owned by Ms. Li Kei Ling and Mr. Hung
Yung Lai, Executive Directors of the Company.

(b)  Mdm. lu Pun is the wife of Mr. Hung Yung Lai and is deemed to be interested
in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Hung Yung Lai.

(c) The issued capital of Time Lead Investments Ltd. is beneficially owned by Mr.
Li Tung Ming,

(d)  The issued capital of Toyo International Investment Limited is equally
beneficially owned by Mr. Leung Hong Man, the Non-executive Director of
the Company and his father Mr. Leung Yiu Sing.

(e) Mdm. Lo Mei Sai is the wife of Mr. Leung Hong Man and is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Leung Hong Man.

() 4,328,000 shares of the Company are held by Dragon Asia Industrial
(Holdings) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Mr. Leung Yiu
Sing and Mdm. Chu Shuet Fong, his wife, are each beneficially interested in
50% of the issued share capital of Dragon Asia Industrial (Holdings) Limited.

(@9 Mdm. Chu Shuet Fong is the wife of Mr. Leung Yiu Sing and is deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Mr. Leung Yiu Sing.

() According to the corporate substantial shareholder notice of FMR LLC filed
for the relevant event dated 28 May 2019 as shown on the website of the
Stock Exchange, the relevant interests of FMR LLC were held via FMR LLC
and its subsidiaries and the percentage of the Company’s issued share
capital was based on 1,586,382,000 shares, the number of issued shares as
on 28 May 2019.
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Approximate
percentage of

the Company’s
Number of issued share Long position/
Shares held capital (%) short position
KIEEDQT

FEN BBITRAE

BRHEER WEIL (%) HFE %A

100,800,000 6.65  Long Position

e
4,328,000 0.29  Long Position

e

95,236,817 6.00  Long Position
e

FiE

(@  Fortune United Group Limited#) 2 2 17 % 7

Keysmart Enterprises Limited & Hunwick International
Limited F¥H Bz B ° Keysmart Enterprises Limited
X Hunwick International Limited % Bl B3 28 A ] 89077
EEFHR LT REMEEE2EHEER -

B2+ RRRRME A MECES - BIRIR RN AR K
ERENARABRM P AR -

Time Lead Investments Limited &) 2 3 17X A R = H
REEERES -

REEREERERARNERTRAD HIBARFN
FRTEEREREERBIRBRBREETFHE
mHER -

BEALTR/RARRELENER  BHREANRRER
EEFEHARDRRMD P HEAES -

4,328,000 8 AR RN D AR BB M A B EE
EXEEBRARMEE  RREEXEEEBRAFMN
EEHEBITRARZRKEEREREBRASSLLS
BEEEAE 50% i o

REFZLRRBKFTENRRE - B AR REK
EERENARRRMDPHEAES

MNE XM BER S IREBFMRLLCAEI A Z=Z
—NERAZT\BHREAEEFENRREZERR
A FMR LLCRIfERE#E % Ty A FMR LLC R H B
REABERERE-_TS-—NAERA-T\HEETR
1 1,5686,382,000 R et EIE AR R B HITRANHE D
£ o



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no person, other than
the Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s interests
and short positions in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered
an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Li Kei Ling

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021

Report of the Directors
EEgRE

BEXHBEEN R-ZE-TF+-_A=+—-A0 ¥
BHEMAL(RRREEREHRI - BRAKRSOHE
HEN EX TEERAFNE D MR ERE K
KR —E)BLRARARDHAARER D P HEED
Bz (AREBEESFMAEEIIEIB6 KT IANE

REARFESHEAHENMBEESEMAN  RA
BENNEZA  ARALHEARR D BITRALR
HZED25% °

=D

ZOKERTEN B RE  MEMZERSERAR
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RERE=S
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BRI E

EY =x

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries set
out on pages 79 to 201, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BRI E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

HARESNEE

BRETEE (E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRWETNMELRRESSE

Impairment of goodwill acquired in business combination

REBEOFF KB B E B E

The Group had goodwill amounting to approximately RMB241
million as at 31 December 2020, arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries. Goodwill was allocated to the cash-generating unit
(“CGU”), which was expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

RZZZZF+_A=+—H BEXERKENBELAREHE
MARB201BET - BESDEEZTAH IS OHF R e &
mNREeEFEM ([REELEM]) -

Under IFRSs, the Group is required to perform impairment testing
for goodwill annually at each reporting period end. The impairment
testing performed at the end of the reporting period was based on
the recoverable amount of the respective CGU to which the goodwill
was allocated. Management performed the impairment testing
based on the value in use calculation using discounted cash flow
projections. The determination of value in use of the respective CGU

involved significant judgements.

REBERFHBREEL X BEKREARSFREHNRYBBETR
B - RERARETORENADREDEMBSRSELE

IRl S REETT - B EREAEEFETEETRERH
EREEDNEXRURReRETVAETE ECHBERSELEN
ZEREBESREZHE -

The Group’s disclosures about goodwill are contained in note 2.4
Summary of significant accounting policies — business
combinations and goodwill, note 2.5 Significant accounting
judgements, estimates and assumptions — impairment of goodwill
and note 17 Goodwill to the financial statements.
E\?Klﬁﬁaﬁ@m&ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ’\ﬁﬂ’liﬁ%W&Z 4B REGFHBRR
— ERAMKEE W25 T EGTHE B RERER — 8

BRENMMEITEEA -

We involved valuation specialists to assist us in the
evaluation of the key assumptions and methodologies used
in the impairment analysis, in particular the discount rate
and long-term growth rate.

BAFHEER2 BB BRMAFERES T BNEEE
RENITE  LERMBREERHERE -

We paid specific attention to the forecasts used with
respect to future revenues and operating results by
comparing the forecasts with the historical performance of
the respective CGU and the business development plan.

I PR RISE S ok ok SR U A TG AR AL e 4 B PR eSSBS - 45 %
LHANERECELESBMABEREREBERTEIET
it -

Furthermore, we assessed the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures concerning goodwill in the consolidated financial
statements.

EESN - R APIREAE
BRE °

BEEERGEMBERRTHBENEE
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR S
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BRI E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

76  DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED EE84%5 (4R%) AR A 7

BB BFT RS MR RRARENERE

BB RREGAMBERRERRS I FEARN

RN ERM BN T ERERRSEERE
THAEBERKMERNZEEHRE - HFERZE
BER(ES—ERE)HE - RILZINABETA B
EREMAE - RAI TSR AR ENAR A M E M
AT B ESFEFEAEL -

ERELHATEORE - AFLREZEEE
BIEITRBH @ EREAES - HRALA A E
Wﬁalt R4 T2 T8 5058 4R 1B LB A
BHBREERERBLSHAYBR
AP OEAAE - AR AT RS -

Z #% ﬁ# o)

4
B

\\

A BE %

ERBEBRTENETEFOBRESD - RIER
TREAE - REF T RRRSAEE - TAFIIR

o MBI EARERYERMBIRE VISR
RIEFEEAHROAR - Rt RRTETET
NEHZERRE  URIETEREENET
BE - ERRMERRER - AREKEATREY
RER 7Rl BEER ERMRM - >§%‘”
A AEBEE 2 - B R A 3 R B SR A i A 5K
M E AR RAER SRR E R M SR
B EASEIRAI RS o

o  EREARTHEBNARES  ARFTEENE
Eﬁzf? EEMIIYE BEREAREGHNE
MEBHXRBR -



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and

to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B TR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower,

1 Tim Mei Avenue,

Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2021
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REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Finance costs

Share of losses of an associate

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent

Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Basic, for profit for the year

Diluted, for profit for the year

i

3H

E)

A

&=

=]

Bl

BN

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER

Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z-_ZT&+-_A=+—HILFE

Notes

Bt

H A YA K2 Wz 4
HERDIHER

TR E A
HAib & M
LR it
EiE—RBE AR ZEBE

BREBE A E F 7

Ffr

=]

1=

i

11

REFERF

AN B IR
BREERA
IR an

BAREERESFEA
EiE S REF

13

X DAFERHENE

B AAER RS

2020 2019
—E-FF —F-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREET T
1,024,270 950,007
(473,625) (414,138)
550,645 535,869
38,426 48,071
(54,572) (84,812)
(109,224) (97,087)
(70,378) (70,809)
(4,828) (5,309)
(18,771) (11,829)
331,298 314,094
(66,505) (58,738)
264,793 255,356
268,130 255,430
(3,337) (74)
264,793 255,356
RMBO0.1736 RMBO.1621
RMBO0.1735 RMBO.1621
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SmEZERER

Year ended 31 December 2020 HE—Z-_ZTHF+-_A=+—HIFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEEF
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may be B SHES EEBERN
reclassified to profit or loss in Hipz2m (BE), s
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences bE 5 =58

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME AEERBEBEMEE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (BR) WEaHE

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEERBEEZEMBSEEE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

Attributable to: AT & IH e
Owners of the parent ISNCIEZ PN
Non-controlling interests eI R
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2020 2019
—EEHF —ET—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
264,793 255,356
(3,976) 2,498
(3,976) 2,498
260,817 257,854
264,154 257,928
(3,337) (74)
260,817 257,854




NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Construction in progress
Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Investment in an associate
Long-term prepayments
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and notes receivables

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Cash and bank

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and notes payables

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Income tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

31 December 2020 R—ZE—ZT&#+=-H=+—H
2020 2019
—E-FF —F-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
(=2 AR®T T ARETIT
FREBEE
M HE RBE 14 452,593 462,832
FRESE 15a 124,553 106,523
fEEITR 16 204,803 26,945
P 17 241,158 241,158
Hfh A 18 206,716 149,663
R—EEBERRZIEE 19 98,669 77,440
KHITE R 22 20,000 =
RETIAE = 29 6,529 6,643
IEMBIEE MR RE 1,355,021 1,071,204
REEE
FE 20 246,028 180,759
FEUE 5 & R IR 21 330,747 370,994
TEfTER - Efb U IR R
Hih&E 22 39,761 186,139
AAREEBESEH AR
2B EE 23 201,192 505,830
Re RBITER 24 730,986 471,461
MENE EBT 1,548,714 1,715,183
REBEE
B E 5 & EIERFIE 25 157,613 156,764
B e RIERE A 26 312,074 239,907
SHEERITIEE 27 - 216,776
HEaE 15b 924 66
FERTFT S HR 9,297 5,809
mE) B BB 479,908 619,322
FREEE 1,068,806 1,095,861
BEBTERREBARE 2,423,827 2,167,065
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PR R

31 December 2020 R-—Z-_ZEF+-_HA=+—H
2020 2019
—E-FF —F-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
= AR¥TR ARETIT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Government grants B 28 900 1,200
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEAE 29 61,715 66,474
Other liabilities EmaR 30 175,595 70,238
Lease liabilities HEAE 15b 2,025 2,841
Total non-current liabilities EmB A ERTE 240,235 140,753
Net assets BEE 2,183,592 2,026,312
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 T#H A E(GER
Issued capital BT A 31 81,072 82,867
Treasury shares EETF & 1% 32 (430) (161)
Reserves HiE 34 2,089,861 1,942,930

2,170,503 2,025,636
Non-controlling interests PR = 13,089 676
Total equity AR 2,183,592 2,026,312
LI Kei Ling HUNG Yung Lai
ZH® RERELTE
Director Director
EFFE EFFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREEKR

ZECEF+ZA=t+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December 2020 &%

Attributable to owners of the parent

—=

BATEE RS
Share Capital Share Statutory ~ Exchange Total Non-
Issued  Treasury  premium redemption option Contributed surplus  fluctuation  Retained  equity of ~ controlling Total
capital shares  account reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve profits  theparent interests equity
-0 EEES EX BT R
BRARE  ERRR ROEE BERG BRESE HAR8 MEE  RBEE REEN  BRAE  BEEE  EREE
Notes RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
iz ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR
(note 31)  (note 32) (note33)  (note34)  (note34)  (note34)  (note 34)
(WaEst) (W) (Hkss)  (W&ed)  (Wiis4) (W34 (WiE34)
At1 January 2020 R=3-%4-p-A 82,867 (161) - 5,684 4,124 100,175 319,504 431 1476012 2,025,636 676 2,026,312
Proftfor the year AEERA - - - - - - - - %6130 268130 (337 264798
Other comprehensive loss TEEEMRESE:
for the year:
Bxchange diferences BiER - - - - - - - (3,976) - (3,976) - (3,976)
Total comprehensive income REE2EKGEAR
for the year - - - - - - - BT 268130 264154  (3331) 260817
Contrbution from non-controling IR R
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - 15,750 15,750
Final 2019 dividend declared EE-E-NERBRE 12 - - - - - - - - (61,358) (61,358) - (61,358)
Shares repurchased in previous HEFREY
years and cancelled this year REFRHEORG (161) 161 - - - - - - - - - -
Shares repurchased and cancelied BRERETHEZ R (1,634) - - 1,634 - - - - (8239 (33.2%9) - (38239
Shares repurchased and subsequenty  BESEIN A B sk
cancelled - 430) - 40 - - - - (2n8) (12545 - (12545
Equty-setfled share option RS B RERH
arangements 8 - - - - 8,109 - - - - 8,109 - 8,109
Lapse of share options K ERE - - - - (4,176) - - - 4,176 - - -
Interim 2020 diviclend “ECRERHRE 12 - - - - - - - - (20,254) (20,254) - (20,254)
Transfer from retained profts BRBERIhER - - - - - - 33,606 - (33,606) - - -
At 31 December 2020 RZB-EE+-f=1-A 81,072 (430) -+ 7,748 45057 100,175* 353,110 (3,545  1,587,316* 2,170,503 13,089 2,183,592
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * WERFEA L ARK2,089,861,0007T (ZF—N4F :

RMB2,089,861,000 (2019: RMB1,942,930,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

R
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 December 2020 HE—Z-_ZTHF+-_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRRERAELER
Share Capital Share Statutory  Exchange Total Non-
Issued Treasury premium  redemption option ~ Contributed surplus fluctuation Retained equiyof  controling Total
capltal shares account reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve profs ~ theparent  interests equity
B ERRH EX BA7 FEHER
BEARA  ERRG  RREE  EERR BRERE SAR% NG L BEH  EREE  ERER ERER
Notes RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMB'O0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMB'00  RMBOOO  RMBIOO0  RWMB00  RMB'000  RMB'000
WE  ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
(ote31)  (note 32) (ote33)  (ote34)  (oted4)  (ote34)  (note34)
(Wrs1)  (HE32) (Wirss)  (Mrsa)  (Wsrse)  (Witss) (W)
At 1 January 2019 RZE-n&-A-A 84,197 - 26160 4193 %M 100175 291,045 (2067 12380516 1921162 - 1921162
Profi for the year TEEER = - - - - - - - 26430 255430 (74 25536
Other comprehensive income for the year: - AF R 2 TS :
Fxchange differences ERZE - - - - - - - 2498 - 2498 - 249
Total comprehensive income TEEREhEER
forthe year - - - - - - - 2498 255430 267,928 (T4) 257,854
Contribution from non-controling FHERRR 2 EE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - 750 750
Final 2018 dividend declared ER-T-/\ERERE - - - - - - - - (81450 (81,450) - (81,450)
Shares repurchased and cancelled BREEUHEZRD (1,330) - (26160 1330 = = = - (4078 (50.289) - (602%)
Shares repurchased and subsequenty  CEEITESKEHZ KA
cancelled - (161) - 161 - - - - [4516) 4516) - (4516)
Eauity-setted share option anrangements AR eV RER H 3 - - - - 4181 - - - - 4181 - 4181
Interim 2019 dividend “R-NERERE 12 - - - - - - - - ) 1480) - @4
Transfer from retained profts BRBETER = = - - - - 28459 - (849 - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=1-H 82,867 (161) - 5,684 a4 100475 319,504° 4310 1476012 2,025,636 676 2,026,312

*
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These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB1,942,930,000 (2018: RMB1,836,965,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

*

DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED Him&d% (FEi%) R A A

I EREEA AR 1,942,930,000 (= — )\ & :
AR #1,836,965,0007T) A 4R & M ISR LR EWY
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Share of losses of an associate

Interest income

Dividend income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Covid-19-related rent concessions
from lessors

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss gains, net

Equity-settled share option expense

Write-down of inventories to net
realisable value

Impairment of intangible assets

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Increase in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in trade and notes
receivables

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and
other assets

Decrease/(increase) in deposits and other
receivables

Increase in trade and notes payables

(Decrease)/increase in other payables
and accruals

Decrease in government grants

Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z-_ZT&+-_A=+—HILFE

Notes
Ff5E
RETENRERE
BR %% AT A
MBI
W5 ER 6
FEfh—MRE = A F 2 BE 19
A2 A 4
AR ERZBHEZBEA
Bam B EEMREKA 4
LEYIZE -« BB kR
HEWEBE 7
AR E Covid-19 18 &
B= 15
M - BRERFETE
14
B EEEH 18
FRAEEENE 15

ARREAEREZEA

B 2 W EEM WS - FH

VAR HE S AT ) i B A A 52 7
T SR 2= F] 23R %8

7
B EERE 18
ME - BB R ERE 14

R
A 5 REEHER D/ (1)

BT EEMEERD,(SE )
Be RE MR D, ($5h0)
e B 5 MR FIAE
His AR NTERE M

(Rl A>), /38

B RO
B [ FT{8H

RETHELENREREFH

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-N4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREETIT
331,298 314,094
4,828 5,309
18,771 11,829
(17,078) (17,041)
(382) (485)

460 656

(5) =

50,182 49,620
6,060 3,814
3,342 1,993
(11,741) (13,862)
8,109 4,181
349 10,142
2,088 6,438

- 102

396,281 376,790
(65,618) (39,069)
40,247 (23,372)
5,905 (7,515)
6,681 (6,914)
849 26,211
(13,480) 26,883
(300) (308)
(67,662) (76,869)
302,903 275,837
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRER

Year ended 31 December 2020 HE—Z-_ZTHF+-_A=+—HIFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of long-term
equity investments

Decrease/(increase) in restricted deposits

Increase in time deposits with maturity
over three months

Purchase of wealth management products

Redemption of wealth management products

Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment and construction in progress

Purchases of intangible assets

Purchase of right-of-use assets

Purchases of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Prepayment for market authorisation fee

Investment to an associate

Proceeds of relocation compensation

Net cash flows from/(used) in investing
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Repurchase of shares

Proceeds from bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Interest paid

Payment for lease liabilities

Contribution from non-controlling shareholders

Dividends paid

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing
activities
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REZHNRERE

2 UH S

AR EFEREEEEA
Bam 2 MHEENRBHRA
HEME - BFEKRERE

PSSR
Y B B B8 12 7]

B < M EEMGHIA
& R R EFSHIA

ERTHAD, (H40)
BIMABB=AA 2N
B
WERMER

EEEE AR

BEMR  BEMEEEE R

EETRE
BEETVEE
BEFRAELE

BEURREFEREESHTA

BamMKEEE
EEFRIE & ATEN R
HHEBERRZERE
E WK 8RR E K

RERBELE(E/R)H
RenEFE

BMEZHNRERE

AN

BISRITERMKEIHRE
BERTEFANNES

ERHE

HER BN
FRERAIR TR
EffRE

AT (EMR)EED
REmeEFE

2020 2019
—E_EF —ZT—NF

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M AREF T AREFIT
10,870 23,704

4 382 485
732 1,704

- (305,346)

76,928 72,965

- 1,588

2,840 (2,840)

(262,500) (90,000)

(1,121,000) (595,000)

1,568,708 471,131

(139,100) (33,814)

(65,201) (40,559)

15 (23,150) (23,357)
(68,419) (41,479

22 (20,000) -
19 (40,000) (38,041)
30 105,357 =
26,447 (598,859)

(40,277) (43,282)

27 - 216,776
27 (216,776) =
(4,722) (5,247)

38 (59) (31)
15,750 750

(81,612) (102,879)

(327,696) 66,087




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-—Z-_ZT&+-_A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EEHF —ET—NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
(=2 AR®T T ARETIT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE)INCASH B4 RESZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ®in ORd) B 1,654 (256,935)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUR S MRS EEBY
of year 258,621 525,363
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  FEREE) > 22 - F5 (1,789) (9,807)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRESEEY
AT END OF YEAR 258,486 258,621
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASHAND ¥ & RESZEYEL DI
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances e MIRITET 144,994 105,619
Short-term deposits RHASRI T K 113,492 153,002
258,486 258,621
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA R AR BT RE

31 December 2020 K= =-_ZTF+=-—A=+—H

1.

88

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Dawnrays Pharmaceutical (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman lIslands on 20 September 2002 under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of business is located at
Units 3001-02, 30/F, CNT Tower, 338 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) underwent a reorganisation on 21 June 2003 to rationalise
the Group’s structure in preparation for the listing of the shares of
the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), pursuant to which the
Company became the holding company of the Group (the “Group
Reorganisation”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 July 2008.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
development, manufacture and sale of non-patented pharmaceutical
medicines including intermediate pharmaceuticals, bulk medicines
and finished drugs. In the opinion of the directors, Fortune United
Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
is the ultimate holding company of the Company.

DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED RIs&i%5 (1282) AR AT

NARFEBER

Rina (ZER)BRARI(TARFNDR=ZEE
“FAAZTEREREREARE(—S—
FE=6 LEERETNE_T_ERHE
HEAMKIRERRERAR « RAFZiF
3% =5 52 i 1k /2 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands @ 1 3£ 2 & 2 tth B 7 #h 4k Bl 2
B 7 £ /B 5538 338 5 468 F1 /0 3042 8001
02%F o

RBEEEEHBCARARRENE R E (5HE
[REE D EBASEERRFNRGOESE
BaRSmARAR (TBRAT]) FR EMm - R
—EE=FARA=1+—H  ARRIKAHAKAN
SEOMEARMZERAR ([EBEEA]) -

ARFBRGR-BE=F+A+— ARBRA
EIRET -

REBRFNEEZNEIEFFNERE - RiE
RIHE - BIEPHE  REZERKE - EFR
7 R B AR R B S A /92 ] Fortune
United Group Limited * 24N BB H&ARIZRR A
S



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Cont’d)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020

are as follows:

Name

AREH

Directly held
EREE

Dawnrays International Co., Ltd.

RIEERARAR

Dawnrays Biotechnology
Capital (Asia) Limited

RIEENRERR (TN BERAR

Indirectly held
BERE

Dawnrays International
Company Limited
RnEERIABRAR

Suzhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*

FMNRBREERDF"

Su Zhou Dawnrays
Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co., Ltd.”

FMRn B ERRERAR"

Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Limited
Rnk % (BR)ERAR

Dawnrays (Nantong)
Pharmaceutical Science and
Technology Co. Ltd.*

Bin (FR) BERRBR AR

Place of
incorporation/
registration

and operations
HEMAL/ ZME
EEME

British Virgin Islands
EBERRES

Hong Kong

BB

Hong Kong

20

Mainland China

N

Mainland China

N

Hong Kong

BB

Mainland China

MBI

Issued share/
paid-up capital

BT/ BHRRE

US$100
100%7T

HK$100

BEA007T

HK$500,000

7% 500,000 70

US$45,000,000

45,000,000% 7T

US$6,000,000

6,000,000 7T

HK$500,000

78 500,000 70

US$15,000,000

15,000,000 % 7T

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 RN—ZE—-—ZT4+—-A=+—H

1. RARFEEER (&)

MEE A R &R
RARIRZ
AIFFBEWS
Percentage
of equity
Legal attributable to
form the Company
ANRES
EEFR RERDL
Limited liability 100%
ARAR
Limited liability 100%
ARAR
Limited liability 100%
BARR7A
Foreign investment 100%
enterprise with
limited liability
SERERB AT
Foreign investment 100%
enterprise with
limited liability
HEREBRAR
Limited liability 100%
BRAT]
Foreign investment 100%

enterprise with
limited liability
SMEREBR AR

Z_TE+_A=+—BZHBA

Principal activities

TEREYR

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding and sale of
pharmaceutical products
REERRHEBZER

Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical products

Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical intermediates

RERHEREPRE

Sale of pharmaceutical
products
HEBZED

Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical intermediates

s

BERHEREDRER
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA R AR BT RE

31 December 2020 R—Z-ZTH+—-H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Cont’d)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

1.

90

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Issued share/

Name and operations paid-up capital
HEMARL ERR
ARER BENE  ERT/EHERRE
Top Field Limited* British Virgin Islands US$60,000
ERERRES 60,000%7T

Cinmed (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$93,855,001
Investment Limited*

B (BR)REERRA BB 71 93,855,001 7T

Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Mainland China US$12,000,000
Co., Ltd.*

BRRnREBRAR N 12,000,0005 7T

Cinmed Medical Equipment Mainland China RMB1,000,000
(Putian) Co., Ltd. *

HpREAH (BH)ERAR BEiYNE AK%1,000,0007C

Nanjing PharmaRays Science and Mainland China RMB36,500,000
Technology Co., Ltd."

HRBRERRERRARAR REAE  AR¥%36,500,0007T

Guangzhou PharmaRays Science Mainland China RMB3,000,000
and Technology Co., Ltd.

BMNEERERRBR AR BN AK3,000,0007C

Lanzhou Dawnrays Mainland China US$9,000,000
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*

BN RIS EERA R N3 9,000,0003 7T

# These subsidiaries were registered under PRC law.

were dissolved in February 2021.

& The non-controlling shareholders injected RMB15,750,000 to &
subscribe 35% equity interest of Nanjing PharmaRays Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. during the current year. The ownership
percentage of the Company and the non-controlling shareholders

remained unchanged.

Top Field Limited was dissolved in May 2020. Cinmed (Hong Kong)
Investment Limited and Cinmed Medical Equipment (Putian) Co., Ltd.

1. RARFEEER (&)

MBS A &R ()

Percentage

of equity

Legal attributable to

form the Company

A NRES

EERR REBAL

Limited liability 100%
BRAT

Limited liability 100%
BRAT

Foreign investment 100%
enterprise with
limited liability
HEREBRAR

Limited liability 100%
BRAT

Limited liability 65%
BRAT

Limited liability 65%
BRAT

Foreign investment 100%
enterprise with
limited liability
SMEREER AR

Principal activities

TREHR

Dormant

aVEE)

Dormant

AVEE)

Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical products

Dormant

TES

Research and development of

pharmaceutical products
MALFEEEER

Research and development of

pharmaceutical products
MALFEEEER

Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical products

" % B R )R BOA RS

* Top Field Limited R = Z —ZFF f1 A fF gk - H
Z(BE)REBRA R RELEESW(FBH

BRARN-ZZ=_—F— AR -

DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED RIs&i%5 (1282) AR AT

AER - FEZEBRBRREE AR 15,750,000
TAERBERERZAERAFLRE35%
BeAE - AR R ERIEERIRR G RE DL



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) (which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss that have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power

over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

()

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of the subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Notes to Financial Statements

2.1

FEEELTE:
31 December 2020 R=—F_FTF+_A=+—H
IREUELAE
FEMBRRERERE ST ENEES ([H
R ERIRE g |) 2R My B B 75 S 22 R
(TR B 7 i 5 22 BN 1) (B35 PR B B B 75 3
HARA| - B e (g2 R4
HE) REBCRAURAI B R E kM imE o BrIA
AREFEEHETF B HBEEIN
EURBRRBRELKARNGER  WAAR
BIARBDIT  MEEEAIN AL
BN R AE SRR T -

AHEE
FAMBHRREBEARRLEMBATREEZE
Z_TFE+_A=+—BIEFENHBERE
MEBARDEARRERIEEREHNER(E
E—(AAEBLEER) ESEHEEESEE
BRENNBRENESEZELHIBELRE
FTEVERIRE (I MERAOE T REREERIR
BNHRARDNEEEN) FEREER -

BEUYARERARMERERRETASRIERE
FRUNENE  AEESZERGHEBER
SKHMBIRIE AR E 2D E IR E T AR EH
® B

(@) HEEMEERFAEZENZOXRE

b) HEMIZAONGETFERNED K
© AERENKEEMBEREE -

i B B X B B IS R B0 3R 5 HA R AN X B4R
Rl @ BERTER—2 - HERREEHRN
SERGZEHRERRE2AAHAR L—F
BHAREEZHEAILA /I -
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA R AR BT RE

31 December 2020

2.1

S

RZZ=TF+=A=+—H

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Cont’d)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control described above. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED RIs&i%5 (1282) AR AT

2.1

LR (1)

SOFEE (H)
BEakAtEHRESAKTD FBEAEE
BREEE A RIEZERER - BELESER
RS B REA SR - AREARFREN
BEEBE  BE WA FAXREREEK
BRARMERZAENRERENEHEERE
BRI -

ERENERAKRA LM 2 =R =ETT
EHRH—ERZEEER  AEEEHTER
BEHREHR - RIBRRHEERER L
HE) o T SEHHEREEGIE - BIERE

i AEEAR LS —HMNB AR MZEE - AR
RIEFER()ZMBARINEE (BHEAE) KA
18~ (i) 5 ] S 422 B o O P 70 1B % (i) IR 2 Y
B R ITHEZR - RER () TR ENR
AME - () ARE R E N A E K (i) Bk
R EhELE R sk 1E - TR EME
R E AR A EEEE R AR AEE
EERHERBEEXRRBENRARZEERR
BN ERBEERRBEN (RAEBEE) -



2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial

Reporting 2018 and the following revised IFRSs for the first time for

the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

Covid-19-Related Rent

Concessions (early adopted)

Definition of Material

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for Financial

Reporting 2018 and the revised IFRSs are described below:

(a)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to all
parties to understand and interpret the standards. The
Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on
measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and
updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence and
measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The Conceptual
Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts
contained therein override the concepts or requirements in any
standard. The Conceptual Framework did not have any
significant impact on the financial position and performance of

the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

94
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Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for
an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a
business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without including
all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue
to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to
focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional fair
value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to transactions or other events that occurred on
or after 1 January 2020. The amendments did not have any

impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 address issues
affecting financial reporting in the period before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an
alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide
temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty before the introduction of the
alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors about
their hedging relationships which are directly affected by these
uncertainties. The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group as the Group
does not have any interest rate hedging relationships.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Cont’d)

@

Amendment to IFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
covid-19 pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the pandemic
and only if () the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or
less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding
the change; (i) any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and (iii)
there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease. The amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier application
permitted and shall be applied retrospectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain monthly
lease payments for the leases of the Group’s office buildings
have been reduced or waived by the lessors as a result of the
pandemic and there are no other changes to the terms of the
leases. The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1
January 2020 and elected not to apply lease modification
accounting for all rent concessions granted by the lessors as a
result of the pandemic during the year ended 31 December
2020. Accordingly, a reduction in the lease payments arising
from the rent concessions of RMB5,000 has been accounted
for as a variable lease payment by derecognising part of the
lease liabilities and crediting to profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. The amendments clarify that
materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information, or both. The amendments did not have any
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that

have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 17
Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 8

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards 2018-2020

96  DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED HEe#I% (28%) AR A 7

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2!

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Insurance Contracts®

Insurance Contracts® ®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates®
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9,

lllustrative Examples accompanying
IFRS 16, and IAS 412
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
2 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June

2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to IFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to IFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a
liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer to IAS 37 or
IFRIC respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since
the amendments apply prospectively to business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after the date of first application,
the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date of
transition.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 address
issues not dealt with in the previous amendments which affect financial
reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an
alternative RFR. The Phase 2 amendments provide a practical expedient
to allow the effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the
carrying amount when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if
the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark
reform and the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately preceding the
change. In addition, the amendments permit changes required by the
interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations and
hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being
discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on transition are dealt
with through the normal requirements of IFRS 9 to measure and
recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a
temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when a RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the
separately identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component to become separately identifiable
within the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require an
entity to disclose additional information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform
on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management strategy. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are not
required to restate the comparative information.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

Since the Group had no interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
as at 31 December 2020, the amendments are not expected to have

any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in
December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date will be
determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting
for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer settlement of
the liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies with those
conditions at that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the

Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)
Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or
loss. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to
items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or
after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have

any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the
contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfiling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and
an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative
costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an
entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application without restating
the comparative information. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying
IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected
to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

° IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender
on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies the amendment. The amendment is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not expected to
have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

° IFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from the
lessor relating to leasehold improvements in lllustrative Example
13 accompanying IFRS 16. This removes potential confusion
regarding the treatment of lease incentives when applying IFRS
16.

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements in which it provides guidance
and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. The IASB also issued amendments to
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the PS)
to support the amendments in IAS 1 by explaining and demonstrating
the application of the ‘four-step materiality process’ to accounting
policy disclosures. In particular, the amendments aim to help entities
provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by:

° Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their
‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose
their ‘material’ accounting policies; and

o Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of
materiality in making decisions about accounting policy
disclosures.
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2.3
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

The amendments to IAS 1 will be effective for annual periods starting
on or after 1 January 2023. The amendments did not have any
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.

On 12 February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes to Accounting Estimates and Errors, in
which it introduces a new definition of accounting estimates. The
amendments are designed to clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and the
correction of errors. The current version of IAS 8 does not provide a
definition of accounting estimates. In the amended standard,
accounting estimates are now defined as, “monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.
Distinguishing between a change in accounting policy and a change
in accounting estimate is, in some cases, quite challenging. To
provide additional guidance, the amended standard clarifies that the
effects on an accounting estimate of a change in an input or a
change in a measurement technique are changes in accounting
estimates if they do not result from the correction of prior period
errors. The amendments become effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with earlier application
permitted. The amendments did not have any significant impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and other comprehensive income of associates is included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is

recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held

for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability

to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the

acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (Cont’d)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures financial instruments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that

is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 ~ — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or

indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Cont’d)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of

each reporting period.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
functional currency of most of the group companies. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that

functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates

of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for

each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Cont’d)

The functional currency of the Company, Dawnrays International Co.,
Ltd. (“Dawnrays (BVI)”), Dawnrays Biotechnology Capital (Asia)
Limited (“Dawnrays Biotechnology”), Dawnrays International
Company Limited (“Dawnrays International”), Dawnrays Pharma
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Dawnrays Pharma”), Cinmed (Hong Kong)
Investment Limited (“Cinmed Hong Kong”) and Top Field Limited
(“Top Field”) (collectively the “Overseas Companies”) is the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these companies are translated into RMB at the
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rate for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of the Overseas Companies are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of the Overseas Companies which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average

exchange rate for the year.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will
not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable

consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Cont’d)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

@)
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Sale of pharmaceutical products

Revenue from the sale of pharmaceutical products is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the

pharmaceutical products.

Some contracts for the sale of pharmaceutical products
provide customers with rights of volume rebates. The rights of

volume rebates give rise to variable consideration.

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during the
period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates
are offset against amounts payable by the customer. To
estimate the variable consideration for the expected future
rebates, the most likely amount method is used for contracts
with a single-volume threshold. The requirements on
constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied
and a refund liability for the expected future rebates is
recognised.

Rendering of pilot test services
Revenue from the rendering of pilot test services is recognised
over time because the customer simultaneously receives and

consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Cont’d)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group

and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the

customer).
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31 December 2020 R=_Z-—ZTF+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)
INCOME TAX BiE

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
where the Group operates.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

Deferred tax (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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31 December 2020 K= =-_ZTF+=-—A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)
INCOME TAX (Cont’d) BiE (8])
Deferred tax (Cont’d) EREFLIE (&)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax

liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate,

are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

114 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED HEe#I% (328%) AR A 7

ERAEERE COENITERN - ATHEHAEAB
HEE AHHAERERREENIREE RRELE
BIREME - A REPTS i R — T 54 B L R
—HBERITRANEEREW - BZ TR
BERAIERREEARAARBEELCHER
EFRIBERARBIELEHRIAE ZE AT LAY E H H
AR RFREEEEAMBREENEE
KFABEREENBERER  BETHBARE
MARFERA IR BE T A3

BUF B

BT R0 Al & B AR TR R 2 SR - PAR
1% B SF PR I 7 AR (B PA R A (B T DA RR o i
BB —IRERAR - B A BRI AR X
2 B AR R ER R -

B RE—IREERR - B E AR BERAR
TEWA - WA F BB ER FRET AT A FHIR A
SRFeRABRRIIREEREE - AR
PITERABERSR



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China (the “Mainland China Subsidiaries”) are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

TERMINATION BENEFITS

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the
Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 RN—ZE—-—ZT4+—-A=+—H

24 BEXEHBEREZE(B)

RREREE
AEBRERFELTESHIGI SR ERS
R B RE S A BB B R — EE B MR
smElE ARSI ([RERFE)) - H5KEE
DREBEAFEETADLMIEL  LRE
SRIE B AT BIRAR BIRA B HA S (S B B B R P 4
B RESFEANEERAEREENH &
BYEENESRE - AEENEEHFNE
BB AHKREUBREREMA © HRER
REAERR - ARENEZEBRHR - £
BEREZABESKABEBROBERT AR
Bl ALK -

BENMEAR ([ hEARE
MERR] B THASERE WRTEFN
B RIRRET B o fBURIRT RIRIKET BIRIAR AY
REBIEAS AT BF B ER R PR o

REE R BEARE
T

BRER
BB R AR BT EE RO EERNE
SR B R AR AN 3 TR S A B
FlEY82 BT AR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 ===« 115



Notes to Financial Statements

BA R AR BT RE
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)

ACCOMMODATION BENEFITS

Contributions to an accommodation fund administered by the Public
Accumulation Funds Administration Centre in Mainland China are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, an appropriate capitalisation
rate shall be applied to the expenditure on the individual assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants (the Company’s directors, employees of the Group and
other eligible participants) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby eligible participants render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with eligible participants is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton
valuation model, further details of which are given in note 33 to the
financial statements. The cost of equity-settled transactions is
recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting
date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to
the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an

award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FETERME (&)
(Cont’d)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other

performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. An additional
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the participants as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the entity or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

When the share options are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share-based payments reserve will
be transferred to retained profits.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share (further
details are given in note 13).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive

income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade and notes receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade and notes receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured

at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are

classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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31 December 2020 R=_Z-—ZTF+=-A=+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)
Initial recognition and measurement (Cont’d)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive

income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)
Subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows: (Cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its
equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are
not held for trading. The classification is determined on an

instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair

value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BEAETTHEREBE(E)
(Cont’d)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)
Subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows: (Cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Cont’d)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or
non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as
a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset
out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in

its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial

position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that

the Group could be required to repay.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or

other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2020 K= =-_ZTF+=-—A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 FETERME (&)
(Cont’d)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d) B EERE (&)
General approach —mFE

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each
reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments
are considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit
ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual

payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (Cont’d)

General approach (Cont’d)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified approach
as detailed below.

Stage1 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade and notes receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA R AR BT RE

31 December 2020 R-—Z-ZTF+_-H=+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and notes payables,
other payables, lease liabilities and loans and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The net fair
value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or losses
arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in the statement of profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

Subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective

carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2020 R-—Z-ZTF+_-H=+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with

specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
Leasehold improvements 31to 5 years
Buildings 20 to 25 years
Machinery and other equipment 5to 10 years
Office equipment 3 to 25 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The
useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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RZZ=TF+=A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL) (Cont’d)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as

incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use
or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria

is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production. The

estimated residual value is zero.

Category k=Pl

Software B

Deferred development costs 7 JE 7 B AR AN
Customer relationship EFERAR
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
LEASES
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or

contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value

assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease

payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets.

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Property 3 to 5 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

R R ML
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
LEASES (Cont’d)
Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

()
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Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of
the lease at the present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or

condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

LEASES (Cont’d)

Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

LLeases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BRETTBERBE (&)
(Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial
assets, deferred tax assets and non-current assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the

period in which it arises.

TREASURY SHARES

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in
equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s

own equity instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)
INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and

condition are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials Purchase cost on a weighted-average basis

Finished goods and Cost of direct materials and labour and a
work in progress proportion of manufacturing overheads

based on the normal operating capacity

but excluding borrowing costs

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including time deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted or pledged as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 BEAETTHEREBE(E)
(Cont’d)
PROVISIONS BiE

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher
of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the
general policy for provisions above; and (i) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income
recognised in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)
RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iiy  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(viy  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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RZZ=TF+=A=+—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
and special dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a

liability when they are proposed and declared.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the

future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement which has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the
accounting policy in note 2.4 to the financial statements. Initial
capitalisation of costs is based on management’s judgements that
technological and economic feasibility is confirmed, usually when a
product development project has reached a defined milestone
according to an established project management model.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Variable consideration for volume rebates

The Group estimates variable consideration to be included in the
transaction price for the sale of pharmaceutical products with volume
rebates.

The Group’s expected volume rebates are analysed on a per
customer basis for contracts that are subject to a single volume
threshold. Determining whether a customer will likely be entitled to a
rebate depends on the customer’s historical rebate entitlement and

accumulated purchases to date.

The Group updates its assessment of expected volume rebates
monthly and the refund liabilities are adjusted accordingly. Estimates
of volume rebates are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the
Group’s past experience regarding rebate entitlements may not be
representative of customers’ actual rebate entitlements in the future.
As at 31 December 2020, the amount recognised as refund liabilities
was RMB15,587,000 (2019: RMB10,061,000) for volume rebates.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade and
notes receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by customer type and ageing).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust
the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the finished drugs sector,
the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade and
notes receivables is disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group
would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR
therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions). The
Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as loan
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS,

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Cont’d)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of a similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste or
competitor actions. Management reassesses these estimates at

each reporting date.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indications of impairment
for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the
end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are
tested for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2020 was RMB241,158,000 (2019: RMB241,158,000).

Further details are given in note 17.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and has two reportable segments as

follows:

(@)  Manufacture and sale of intermediates and bulk medicines (the

“intermediates and bulk medicines” segment)

(b)  Manufacture and sale of finished drugs (including antibiotics
finished drugs and non-antibiotics finished drugs) (the “finished

drugs” segment)

Management monitors the operating results of these operating
segments for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest
income, non-lease-related finance costs, government grants,
dividend income, fair value gains/losses from the Group’s financial
instruments as well as head office and corporate expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and bank,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are

managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings, tax
payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and

corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.
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A 5 o 2RO ) (EL A3 48 58 BE BR B A M) RO 71
B) T AR - EARBRBANGE N I E BUAKR
SENRTAENTE - A BWA - FFHEE
BRNMEER - BRFER - BEBA - KA
AEESRTANIABEYRS BE - URE
BREXTREATEBENLIE °

PREETEREENEARE R RRTHF
K ARAREFEEEBHAABEZHEE
ENEMADRENREEEE  HHRZE
BENSERREETE -

PREBBETEEFESRITER  BAHE -
ERBEREREMARDEABEEREE T
HRZFRENRESEEERE

&
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Year ended
31 December 2020

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Unallocated gains

Corporate and other unallocated
expenses

Finance costs (other than
interest on lease liabilities)

Profit before tax

Year ended
31 December 2019

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Unallocated gains

Corporate and other unallocated
expenses

Finance costs (other than
interest on lease liabilities)

Profit before tax

BE-Z-2F
T=A=+—-HLFE

FEWA
HINEE
SIEREEE

DREE

R

R B E
EREMARDE S H

FHERCGHRERERNS)

B A5 Bl A

HE-T-NF
+=A=t+-BLFE

DEBA
HINHE
DEEHE

DEEE

HE -

RO B R
PEREMADESH

B ERCGHEERERS)

B 5% Bl A

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 RN—ZE—-—ZT4+—-A=+—H

Intermediates

THEEFR (E)

Elimination of

and bulk Finished intersegment
medicines drugs sales Total
HREER HEH
R 2% SEEEE mE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥T T AR¥TT AR¥TR
200,214 824,056 - 1,024,270
54,797 - (54,797) -
255,011 824,056 (54,797) 1,024,270
2,608 473,286 - 475,894
34,237
(174,111)
(4,722)
331,298
Intermediates Elimination of
and bulk Finished intersegment
medicines drugs sales Total
HRRES 3
[} B2 PR B2 DR E HE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETTT
236,246 718,761 - 950,007
38,637 = (38,637) -
274,883 713,761 (38,637) 950,007
(1,267) 418,035 = 416,768
45,950
(143,377)
(5,247)
314,094
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2020 R=ZB-ZEF+=-H=+—H
Segment assets: PEEE
Reconciliation: FHE

Corporate and other unallocated assets 1% Kk H i R DAL EE

Total assets BEE

Segment liabilities: SHEEE

Reconciliation: P

Corporate and other unallocated hEREMRIEEAE
liabilities

Total liabilities N =Er

As at 31 December 2019 R-ZE-hAE+=-A=+—H

Segment assets: PEEE:

Reconciliation: FE -

Corporate and other unallocated assets 1% Kk H AR DAL EE

Total assets BEE

Segment liabilities: SHEEE

Reconciliation: -

Corporate and other unallocated PEREMRIEEE
liabilities

Total liabilities N =k
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3. 2EEHA)

Intermediates
and bulk
medicines
PREER
RMB’000
ARETR

571,157

162,797

Intermediates
and bulk
medicines
&
[} 2
RMB’000
ARBTFT

448,157

122,708

Finished
drugs

B B
RMB’000
ARMT T

851,658

126,857

Finished
drugs

P B
RMB’000
ARETT

754,425

136,713

Total

By
RMB’000

ARBTT

1,422,815

1,480,920

__ 2003735

279,654

440,489

720,143

Total

ek
RMB’000
ARETT

1,202,582

1,583,805

2,786,387

259,416

500,659

760,075



3.

4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(@ Revenue from external customers

Mainland China
Other countries

GilEiPN
HEIx

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

customers.

(b) Non-current assets

The Group’s operations are substantially based in Mainland

China and 95% of the non-current assets, excluding deferred

tax assets and an investment in an associate, of the Group are

located in Mainland China. Therefore, no further analysis of

geographical information is presented.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

KEEFEHZHA

3.

4,

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 RN—ZE—-—ZT4+—-A=+—H

THEEFR (E)

W&o M

@ RAMBEFHWA

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T

929,093 859,305

95,177 90,702
1,024,270 950,007

B AB R ZRIBER P AEMETE °

() FRBEE
AEENEEIEETETEAE K
SEBRHIFRBEE(TRIEELD
REERR—RBZE QR ZKE) EHE
FEIKE - SOFRBEEMNMRERE
—EAMUARER °

WA - HWA R Wz

AREBWARDITAAT :
2020 2019
—F-FF —ThE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREFIT
1,024,270 950,007
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4. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

(i)

146 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED HEe#I% (28%) AR A 7

Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Segments

Types of goods or services
Sale of goods
Rendering of pilot test services

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

Geographical markets
Mainland China
Other countries

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time

Services transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

ik |

7 A S AR A R A
7 an 5 &
1 (S B R S AR

KEEFEKZBEA

BT

SaE PN

HE xR

KEEFEAZBIA

LN

R—EREHEES
R — BB R AR

KEEFAHZHBEA

4. WA~ HIWA R W= ()

REFFEHZBA
i) DHFBAER
BE_2_FF+T-A=+t—-HLFE

Intermediates

and bulk Finished

medicines drugs Total
PR

R 2 PR EE my
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR¥T ARBTR
195,630 824,056 1,019,686
4,584 - 4,584
200,214 824,056 1,024,270
107,518 821,575 929,093
92,696 2,481 95,177
200,214 824,056 1,024,270
195,630 824,056 1,019,686
4,584 - 4,584
200,214 824,056 1,024,270




4. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Cont’d)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Segments

Types of goods or services
Sale of goods
Rendering of pilot test services

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

Geographical markets
Mainland China
Other countries

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time

Services transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts

with customers

9
3%:

7 R S AR A R A
7 an 5 &
1 (A B R S AR

KEEFEKZBEA

BT

SiE PN

HBE xR

KEEFEAZBIA

LN

R—ERBHREEEY
R — BB R AR

KEEFAHZHBEA

Notes to Financial Statements
B FE SR 3R BT & E
31 December 2020 R-—ZE-_ZTHF+_-_H=+—H

4. WA~ HIWA R W= ()
REFFEHNZBA (H)
i) DHFBWAER (&)
HE-_Z-NF+-A=1+—HBILFE

Intermediates

and bulk Finished

medicines drugs Total
FEER

JR¥ A X % B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTFT ARETT
232,071 713,761 945,832
4,175 - 4,175
236,246 713,761 950,007
151,693 707,612 859,305
84,553 6,149 90,702
236,246 713,761 950,007
232,071 713,761 945,832
4,175 - 4,175
236,246 713,761 950,007
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (Cont’d)

4.

148 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED HEe#I% (28%) A MRA 7

(ii)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of pharmaceutical products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
pharmaceutical products and payment is generally due within
90 days from delivery, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. Some contracts
provide customers with volume rebates which give rise to

variable consideration subject to constraint.

Rendering of pilot test services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and short-term advances are normally required
before rendering the services. Pilot test service contracts are
for periods of one year or less, or are billed based on the time

incurred.

The amounts of transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at 31 December are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised as
revenue:
Within one year —F AR
All the amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised within
one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include variable
consideration which is constrained.

4,

WA~ HWA R Wz ()
REFEFEHZBA ()

(i

RIS RERRBRANDER

BHREE
BRAEEROETHNERBURLIT

BHEEMHE
BABEERINEEEmMBTHK © 5K
BEERERORAIE  HEFK
S B REFERNRIA OE
M TEPHENN  EMEETER
HlEY AT AL(E -

AR IR

ERBEHORERE —REBREERS -
WAAERKRBZABETEEHMAN
Ko ABAARB SO R —FHABRE
i IRBELNSEKRE -

Rt+—A=+—8 DEGARTKED
FECRTERE D KRR IR B ER
SR

2020 2019
—g-%F —TnE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#F T ARBFT
8,469 15,463

FERTHRNEETNRZERESEE
E—FAFER  LERENSRT
BREZRFNAERE -
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 R=—Z=_ZTF+_-A=+—H
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Cont’d) 4. WA -~ EbIg AR iR ()
2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Other income Hipg A
Bank interest income RITHI B UA 17,078 17,041
Dividend income from financial assets at fair ~ A A B2 B HEE A
value through profit or loss BRZUBEENREIWA 382 485
Rental income HEWA 124 258
Government grants BT B 6,885 11,589
Foreign exchange gains, net P H e - FEE - 2,298
Others HAth 1,823 1,586
26,292 38,2511
Gains Wz
Gain on sales of scrapped materials o BE R U S 393 952
Financial assets at fair value through profit or ~ SA A B2 B HEEEt A
loss gains, net Ba B EEN R - F5 11,741 13,862
12,134 14,814
38,426 48,071
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5. OTHER EXPENSES

Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Impairment of intangible assets

Amortisation of capitalised research and
development costs

Donations

HEME « BFELREERB ZER

BIZEERE
BAC R SRR A B 5

=1

B

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 77 &4 & r] & 35 % (B

Write-off of obsolete stocks

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Current year expenditure of research and
development costs

Foreign exchange losses, net

Others

6. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on bank loans wholly repayable
within five years

Interest on lease liabilities

Interest on discounted notes receivable

150 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED HEe#I% (328%) A MRA 7

WS RS 1T
W% -~ BB RRERE
REZHERA H

[ENERERE R
Hity

ARAFRNEBREED
RITERZFE

HEREZHE

FEWRIBREIR 2 B

HihE A
2020 2019
—EEF —T—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
460 656
2,088 6,438
2,484 1,762
2,086 32
349 10,142
4,744 2,974
- 102
55,460 47,889
1,476 =
1,231 814
70,378 70,809
B8 R
2020 2019
—E_EF —T—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFIT
4,474 4,455
106 62
248 792
4,828 5,309
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PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 KT _ZTHF+_F=+—H
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRFADREF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AN B B8 B AT R TR (B ) T 5 &
THAETE ¢
2020 2019
—EDEF —E-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AREFT AR®ETIT
Cost of inventories sold* BEEFERA" 473,625 413,382
Depreciation of property, Y - BB MEREITE
plant and equipment 14 50,182 49,620
Depreciation of right-of-use assets** FREEETE 15 3,342 1,993
Research and development costs: 95 R FAEE AR AN
Amortisation of intangible assets*** B EEEE 18 2,484 1,762
Current year expenditure REETH 5 55,460 47,889
57,944 49,651
Lease payments not included in TEEREaGENECHS
the measurement of lease liabilities 958 724
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEEM S ¢
Statutory audit service A TE RZ AR 2,200 1,980
Non-statutory audit service IEATE X EPRTS - 690
2,200 2,670
Employee benefit expense (including EERMRASZ (BEEEFR
directors’ and chief executive officer's 42z B % (H:E8)) :
remuneration (note 8)):
Wages and salaries TERES 123,683 100,043
Equity-settled share option expense VA B =2 1+ O B IR B S 8,109 4,181
Retirement benefits RRAE A 1,073 8,087
Accommodation benefits EFEEH 5,066 4,346
Other benefits H At 1274 18,382 23,001
156,313 139,658
Foreign exchange differences, net EHZRE  F5E 1,476 (2,298)
Impairment of intangible assets B EEZRE 18 2,088 6,438
Impairment of property, M - B R BB
plant and equipment 14 - 102
Write-down of inventories to net = B0 2= ] 235 5E
realisable value 5 349 10,142
Financial assets at fair value through AAREEBEESA
profit or loss gains, net BamzWBEEWZ - F5 4 (11,741) (13,862)
Bank interest income HRITH B A 4 (17,078) (17,041)
Loss on disposal of items of property,  HEWE - HE RHEE
plant and equipment I8 B W18 5 460 656
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7.

152

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)

* The depreciation of RMB38,293,000 for the year (2019:
RMB37,816,000) is included in “Cost of inventories sold”.

ke

The depreciation of right-of-use assets for the year is included in

“Administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

The amortisation of intangible assets for the year is included in “Other

expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s remuneration for the year,

disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and

(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulation, is as follows:

Fees

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Bonuses
Equity-settled share option expense
Pension scheme contributions

H At Hr B -
e o RRELEYEN
LA B HE 11 ) R s b e S
BIREFTEI R

DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED RIs&i%5 (1282) AR AT

BRELADER ()

ANEEZREEH ARKSE8293000(=F
—NE: AR#¥37,816,0007T) EftATEE

FEKA] -

* ERNEREEAENEMALRERERN (1T

BEM] -

o ERANBTEEREG AR BERRN[EA

M-

EERARME

RiE AR B & & B A B &5 55 383(1)(a)
b)) RO RATHENE —H(EEHEE
EBHER)FEEFANESERASMSOT

2020 2019
—EBEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
1,316 1,300
3,173 3,140
2,016 1,876
4,297 2,395

59 66

9,545 7,477
10,861 8,777




8.

Notes to Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(A)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

Mr. Lo Tung Sing, Tony BRI E
Mr. EDE, Ronald Hao Xi EDE, Ronald Hao Xi %t 4
Ms. Lam Ming Yee, Joan AR+

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2019: Nil).

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 RN—ZE—-—ZT4+—-A=+—H

EERAHME (F)

(A) BAFHTES
RERBYIFNTESNRSN D

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
321 317

321 317

321 317

963 951

AERWEENBILIFATESTNEM
e (ZF—NF: &) o
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

REMUNERATION (Cont’d)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

2020

Executive directors:
Ms. Li Kei Ling
Mr. Hung Yung Lai
Mr. Chen Shaojun
(the chief executive officer)

Non-executive director:
Mr. Leung Hong Man

2019

Executive directors:
Ms. Li Kei Ling
Mr. Hung Yung Lai
Mr. Chen Shaojun
(the chief executive officer)

Non-executive director:
Mr. Leung Hong Man

#1178
FERLL
RERbE R
RAELE
(%)

FMITES

—E-hE

HTEE:
FERTL
RAERE

FMITES

ESNATME (F)

(B) HITEE FHUTESRAR

Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme Total
Fees in kind Bonuses expense contributions remuneration
e 2R DR RS2 5 Y Bik&
ne BNEA ®e  BREEX aTEIHR MemE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
43 972 - - 20 1,035
43 598 - - 20 661
- 1,603 2,016 4,297 19 7,935
86 3,173 2,016 4,297 59 9,631
267 - - - - 267
353 3,173 2,016 4,297 59 9,898
42 962 - - 20 1,024
42 592 - - 20 654
- 1,586 1,876 2,395 26 5,883
84 3,140 1,876 2,395 66 7,561
265 - - - - 265
349 3,140 1,876 2,395 66 7,826

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included the chief
executive officer and a director, details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining
three (2019: three) non-director and non-chief executive officer
highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Equity-settled share option expense

Pension scheme contributions ERE IR

The number of non-director and non-chief executive officer highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is

o R NEDER
LA RSHE S2 A< ) s A D ST

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 R=ZT=_ZTF+_-_A=+—H
IuG=HES
FALURSHEERFEAME —UEE K
Z7MeFBFHN EXHFES AT = (ZF
—NF: =) FEERFEDRSHFIES
REARBFBINT -

2020 2019
e —FTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
3,175 3,095

279 636

36 36

3,490 3,767

Be e BN T TERINEEERFRAES
FMEEHABRDT ;

as follows:
Number of employees
EEAE

2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T Z 1,000,000 7T - =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 % 1,000,001 7T 275 % 1,500,000 7T 3 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 71,500,001 7L E A # 2,000,000 7T - -
3 3

During the year, share options were granted to two non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of their
services to the Group, further details of which are included in the
disclosures in note 33 to the financial statements. The fair value of
such options, which has been recognised in the statement of profit
or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of
grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above non-director and non-chief

executive highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

FN - MEFEERFEIEESFIHEERR
ERAKEREMER TRIE - FEHNM
BRI B RET - Z MR BN ER
RERCBBREAANERETAEELREEHE
REEMBRRCEREHE LM IFERIFER
R MEENFHMKEZA
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10. RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND ACCOMMODATION

BENEFITS

In compliance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(the “MPF Ordinance”), the Company, Dawnrays International
Company Limited, Dawnrays Pharma (Hong Kong) Limited, Dawnrays
Biotechnology Capital (Asia) Limited and Cinmed (Hong Kong)
Investment Limited have participated in the MPF Scheme, a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee, to provide
retirement benefits to their respective Hong Kong employees.
Contributions to the MPF Scheme are made in accordance with the
statutory limits prescribed by the MPF Ordinance.

As stipulated by the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) state
regulations, the Mainland China Subsidiaries participate in a defined
contribution retirement scheme. All employees are entitled to an
annual pension equal to a fixed proportion of the average basic
salary amount of the geographical area of their last employment at
their retirement dates. The Mainland China Subsidiaries are required
to make contributions to the local social security bureau at 16%
(2019: 16% to 22%) of the previous year’s average basic salary
amount of the geographical area where the employees are employed
by the Mainland China Subsidiaries.

The Group has no further obligation for the payment of pension

benefits beyond the annual contributions as set out above.

According to relevant rules and regulations of the PRC, the Mainland
China Subsidiaries and their employees are each required to make
contributions to an accommodation fund at 8% to 10% (2019: 8% to
10%) of the salaries and wages of the employees which is
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre. There is no further obligation on the part of the Group except
for such contributions to the accommodation fund.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no significant obligations
apart from the contributions as stated above.
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EIRCGEHIMERBE A BED) ([RE2 R
MRE  ARA - RiBERROHBERAGE - R
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e EE L MR IRIRRE S GROIPTRT
MR ERBRIE °
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ZRESREIEMNFHERAFSNETE L
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INCOME TAX
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 are:

Current income tax = HpT 1S

Current income tax charge EHMEHT T
Deferred income tax (note 29) FEAEFLIE (MI5E29)
Total tax charge for the year REEMBR HERE

Pursuant to section 6 of the Tax Concessions Law (1999 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands, the Company has obtained an undertaking from
the Governor-in-Council that no law which is enacted in the Cayman
Islands imposing any tax to be levied on profits, income, gain or
appreciation shall apply to the Company or its operations. The
undertaking for the Company is for a period of 20 years from 8
October 2002. Accordingly, the Company is not subject to tax.

The subsidiaries incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”)
are not subject to income tax, as these subsidiaries do not have a
place of business (other than a registered office only) or carry out any
business in the BVI.

The Hong Kong subsidiaries are subject to tax at a statutory profit
tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) under the income tax rules and
regulations of Hong Kong. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax
has been made as the Group had no assessable profits arising in its
respective Hong Kong subsidiaries during the year (2019: Nil).

Notes to Financial Statements

MR
31 December 2020 R-Z-_ZTF+—-A=+—H
et
HEZT-_TFR-ZFT-NF+=ZA=+—8
IEFEMSHEEMEZAKLIAT

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
71,150 62,322
(4,645) (3,584)
66,505 58,738

REFEHERBERRZE(—ANNFEFTAN)
FolF ARARCDEBEEGRITHBRE
HERSTEARHARRSAEEBNAMEE
M~ WA~ RERSIEEET - AR R B AR
BHE_ZFE_FtAN\BEAR_-T%F-
It NRRBER

TA B B8 A BB S A 5 R T B SZ RO BT 88 1t B SR ZE A
MFRET - AZMBARNEBERA RS
X (MR FERIN) RGBT X
75 o

REZENMEHRARNERG - FEMNBAF
BEIEENRFZ MR E165%( = F — N F:
16.6%) @Mt - AR ARBRAFEREERT BN
M AR EELRRTUEN - L EREE
MEBELBE(CE—NF &) -
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31 December 2020 R—Z-ZTH+—-H=+—H

11.

158 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED HEe#I% (428%) AR A 7

INCOME TAX (Cont’d)
According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law effective from 1
January 2008, the Mainland China Subsidiaries are all subject to

income tax at the rate of 25% on their respective taxable income.

On 21 October 2008, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical”) was qualified as a High-
New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) of Jiangsu Province. As a
result, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical had been entitled to a
concessionary rate of income tax at 15% for three years commencing
on 1 January 2008 and would apply for renewal of the qualification
every three years.

On 2 December 2019, Fujian Dawnrays Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Fujian Dawnrays”) was qualified as a HNTE of Fujian Province. As a
result, Fujian Dawnrays had been entitled to a concessionary rate of
income tax at 15% for three years commencing on 1 January 2019
and would apply for renewal of the qualification every three years.

All other subsidiaries in Mainland China were subject to corporate
income tax at a rate of 25% in 2020.

11.

Frig®t (&)
RER-_ZTN\F—H - HREERNTREEE
PRISHUE - PEAREMBARARESBRER
LA B 26% P S35 A0 o

RZZEZNF+AZ+—8  #HINERRES
R B ([BRM R IR 52 | ) BEULARA = 8 £l
(BT EEE]) &% - Bt - #RMNERS
HuFEa 2T/ \F—A—BBN=FRZ
Z15%MMBBATSH RN T = FHFERER

MRZZE—hFE+_FA-H RERHIEER
AR ([BERRN]) EREEE Rt EE
%o At BERmAEE S —NF—A—
ARERN=FRNZEZ15%NEBMERELT=
FERFEBER -
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11.

INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 R=Z—_ZF+=-A=+—H

11.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at

the statutory rate for the country or jurisdiction in which the Company

and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense

at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate to

the effective tax rate, are as follows:

Accounting profit before income tax

At the PRC’s statutory income tax rate
of 256% (2019: 25%)

Tax effect of profits entitled to tax concession
or lower tax rate enacted by local authority

Effect of withholding tax on the distributable
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries

Adjustments in respect of current income
tax of previous years

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax credit for qualified research and
development costs

Tax losses not recognised

Tax losses utilised from previous periods

At the effective income tax rate of 20.07%
(2019: 18.70%)

PriSHip &

mE}
E‘[
B
=i

ZH BEE RSB R 25%
T— N 25%)
T;mﬁﬁ Uk Mok 2 M R B AT

REME 2 MBHE
REERHWBE RG] 2T HE
Bz BN E
BREBEFEEMEH < FHE

AR Z X

& DNETHIBR (R RO BT 3R AR
HREH
RUERTIAE 18

MR LA BT Z AT 0T TR B 18

REBRFSEHRE20.07%
(ZZ—N%F : 18.70%)

Frig®t (&)

PR R R A5 BT A LA R 22 R Ko EL R AR 4 it /8
DEEMBERBEEREER K E 2 HIR
SHENERBRERGFREZRA R - LRk

BERATEEERBE 2 HRMT

2020 2019
—g-%F —z-nE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
331,298 314,094
82,825 78,524
(36,023) (30,371)
15,126 12,753
1,170 2,823
5,231 633
(6,179) (5,009)
5,652 3,499
(1,297) (4,114)
66,505 58,738

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 —Z=—=4«3 159



Notes to Financial Statements
B FE SR IR BT & E
31 December 2020 R—ZE-_ZTF+_-_H=+—H

12. DIVIDENDS

Interim — HK$0.015 (2019: HK$0.015)
per ordinary share
Proposed final — HK$0.05 (2019: HK$0.043)

per ordinary share

RERE

P5¥0.0437T)
Proposed special — HK$0.05

per ordinary share 7E¥0.05 7T

The proposed final dividend and special dividend for the year are
subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit for
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the
weighted average number of 1,544,589,000 shares (2019:
1,575,362,000 shares) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the period is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year,
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at
no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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12.

—T—NF : B¥0.0157T)
R ARHRE S - BT B
B 0.05 T (ZE— N4 :

BB RIS - BRERK

13.

S EBREE0.0157T

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARET T

20,254 21,431

62,655 61,358

62,655 =

145,564 82,789
AEERRFEORBBERFHBRERFRD

AIRRR R FAF AR EIB °

BARERRESSEARGERERN

BRERBNZ LG AR L BIRIESEEGAR
1l R [ A & F A B 3% 17 1,544,589,000 A%
ZINEF R E (=T — LF : 1,575,362,000

BR)FHHE

R EAHEE SR ER AN ERE Q7]
BRBEESRAARGAFEEN - BIEtE
AR Z T RBRIEFAND BT
BRERE - MEREAESRERRN - N
ERTRERTT 0 sk e i B ESH (F A R0 B A M R
RS EERTHE B IEFIRRE -



Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 R=ZT=ZT4+=-A=+—H
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 13. BAREEREREEAEBLGERETR
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (Cont’d) (&)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based THAEAEFTESRERBN REEEEREA
on: MEVEUE -
2020 2019
—ECEH —E-nF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBT T
Earnings R
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders &I A Bl & @Rz E A
of the parent FE(EE T 268,130 255,430
Number of shares
ROEE
2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NF
Thousands Thousands
F1z Tz
Shares iidni)
Weighted average number of ordinary FrESRERZF TERAFRN
shares in issue during the year used BT E AR E T
in the basic earnings per share calculation 1,544,589 1,575,362
Effect of dilution — weighted average BEESERE — NEYY
number of ordinary shares: TR AR
Share options AR 946 =
Weighted average number of ordinary shares — Fh#H 8 &2 £ /E H A 2L1E 2 ik
adjusted for the effect of dilution :Fi/jjé: A% IR EX 1,545,535 1,575,362
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31 December 2020 R—Z-ZTH+—-H=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % - BRERXME
Machinery
Leasehold and other Office Motor
improvements Buildings equipment equipment vehicles Total
HEEE BER
HRIB gF HibzRfE RAERE RE #m
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETR ARETTT ARETFT ARBTT ARETTT

Cost: )77
Asat 1 January 2019 R=ZZE-NF—A—H - 274,374 643,237 12,030 18,213 947,854
Additions RE 108 - 1,744 2,462 - 4,314
Transferred from construction in ~ 7£ &2 T 128 5% (Ff3 16)

progress (note 16) - 6,062 17,790 320 - 24,172
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEHB AR 2,894 29,559 31,693 1,116 3,257 68,519
Disposals e (2,894) (525) (5,662) (880) (1,549) (11,510)
Exchange realignment i 5 3% - 92 - 29 12 133
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZB-AFE+=-A=+-H 108 309,562 688,802 15,077 19,933 1,033,482
As at 1 January 2020 R-Z-ZEF5-H-H 108 309,562 688,802 15,077 19,933 1,033,482
Additions NE - - 5,826 773 267 6,866
Transferred from construction in ~ 7& 2 T 1285 (Ff3F 16)

progress (note 16) 5,868 99 27,989 485 75 34,516
Disposals g - (126) (6,155) (511) (2,667) (9,459)
Exchange realignment I 5 2% - (288) 1 (96) (35) (418)
As at 31 December 2020 R=B-BE+-A=+-H 5,976 309,247 716,463 15,728 17,573 1,064,987

Accumulated depreciation ~ E3HTERHEHE :

and impairment:

As at 1 January 2019 R-_ZE—NE—F—H = 113,052 353,849 9,303 12,704 488,908
Depreciation provided for the year & A7 8 & & 433 13,228 32,187 1,599 2,173 49,620
Acquisition of subsidiaries GG 2,461 11,225 23,965 840 2,622 41,113
Disposals e (2,894) (206) (4,168) (730) (1,152) ©,150)
Impairment for the year FRRE - = 102 = = 102
Exchange realignment B AR - 35 - 16 6 57
As at 31 December 2019 R-E-AF+=B=1-H - 137,334 405,935 11,028 16,353 570,650
As at 1 January 2020 W-ZE-EF-H—H - 137,334 405,935 11,028 16,353 570,650
Depreciation provided for the year 4 A7 8 & & 591 13,566 33,815 1,056 1,154 50,182
Disposals HE - - (5,414) (453) (2,400) (8,267)
Exchange realignment B 3 A - (84) - (58) (29) (171)
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-EF+=-A=1t—-H 591 150,816 434,336 11,573 15,078 612,394
Net book value: FREFE

As at 31 December 2020 R-B-ZEF+=-A=1+—-H 5,385 158,431 282,127 4,155 2,495 452,593
As at 31 December 2019 R-E-AE+=A=1-H 108 172,228 282,867 4,049 3,680 462,832
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15. LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

Notes to Financial Statements

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property and

office equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments were

made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease

periods of 40 to 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made

under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office buildings

generally have lease terms between 3 and 5 years. Office equipment

generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually

of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and

subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and

the movements during the year are as follows:

As at 1 January 2019

Additions

Additions as a result of acquisition
of a subsidiary

Depreciation charge

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2019 and
1 January 2020

Additions*
Depreciation charge
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2020

RZE—NF—HA—H
NE

LGy =N NN =

FE
FEMG
3

RZZE_ZF+=-A=+—H

* All the additions in 2020 was for the land use right acquired in

Lanzhou.

15.

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 RN—ZE—-—ZT4+—-A=+—H

HE

KEBEREBEA
AEEREERETEANSENERRAE
REENEES L - SERATEL —RIENFKEAR
BEENRELEHRI020FWEE LM
WARBELELHBEENERTEEREN
Ko PRABNHERBERIESF - WAE
RENHEEHBEER12MEAKERE R, LIE5
EBERE - —KM 5 @ AEE TR RAREE IR
SINTHEERDHBEERE -

() EHAEEE
FRNRSE FREESEREBERE
m
Leasehold Office
land buildings Total
HELH LN Feb-c)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT ARET T
65,416 - 65,416
23,139 3,094 26,233
16,304 - 16,304
(1,613) (380) (1,993)
563 - 563
103,809 2,714 106,523
23,150 - 23,150
(2,699) (643) (3,342)
(1,778) - (1,778)
122,482 2,071 124,553
& ZECTEMAEREERTERIMNE

SR -
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31 December 2020 R=Z=_ZTF+=-A=+—H

15. LEASES (Cont’d) 15. HE (&)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Cont’d) REBEEREEA (FH)
(b) Lease liabilities by HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

FAREE 2 HERBREERZEH N
T~

2020 2019
—BCERF —ZE-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—HBZEmEE 2,907 =
New leases & - 2,876
Accretion of interest recognised FRERTH MR
during the year 106 62
Covid-19-related rent concessions AR B Covid-19 4878
from lessors HEeE=R (5) -
Payments (BN (59) (31)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—HZEEE 2,949 2,907
Analysed into: DT
Current portion mehEl o 924 66
Non-current portion FETRENEL D 2,025 2,841

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37

to the financial statements.

As disclosed in note 2.2 to the financial statements, the Group

has early adopted the amendment to IFRS 16 and applied the

practical expedient to all eligible rent concessions granted by

the lessors for leases of certain office buildings during the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 KT _ZTHF+_F=+—H
15. LEASES (Cont’d) 15. HE (&)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Cont’d) REBERABA ()
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases () REZTERNESHEBERENT !
are as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EH —ZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENE 106 62
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {fFREEEHT &R 3,342 1,993
Expense relating to leases of B HAEEENRY
short-term leases 958 724
Covid-19-related rent concessions T AR B Covid-19 488
from lessors HeE=E (5) -
Total amount recognised in profit or loss Bz iR K IB 4258 4,401 2,779
16. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 16. EEIR
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AREET T
As at 1 January n—H—H 26,945 10,572
Additions NE 213,338 40,545
Transferred to property, plant and AW - BB RERE(WE14)
equipment (note 14) (34,516) (24,172)
Transferred to others T EAM (964) -
As at 31 December Nt+t=—B=+—H 204,803 26,945
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31 December 2020 R—Z-ZTH+—-H=+—H

17. GOODWILL 17. &

Cost at 1 January 2019, net of accumulated impairment R=—ZE—hE—H— B 274 -
MR RFHRERNFE
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — B A A

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2019 NR-ZE—NE+=-_A=+—B8Bz

A K AR SHE
At 31 December 2019: RZZB-—NEFTZHA=+—8:
Cost AR
Accumulated impairment EFDRE
Net carrying amount BREFE

Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated impairment R-—E-ZFF—H—H 774 -
MR RFHBERNFE

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2020 RZE-_TF+-_A=+—HZ

PR R BRTEFHE
At 31 December 2020: R-E_ZEF+_HA=+—8:
Cost BN
Accumulated impairment Z2EHRE
Net carrying amount BREFE
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RMB’000
ARET T

241,158

241,158

241,158

241,158

241,158

241,158

241,158

241,158




17. GOODWILL (Cont’d)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
related finished drugs business cash-generating unit for impairment

testing.

The recoverable amount of the finished drugs business cash-
generating unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 17% and the
cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a
growth rate of 3%, which was the same as the long term average
growth rate of the pharmaceutical industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the finished
drugs business cash-generating unit for 31 December 2020. The
following describes each key assumption on which management has
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the three years immediately before the budget
year, increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are after tax and reflect

specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development
of finished drugs and discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

The management of the Group assessed that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the finished drugs business cash-generating unit
to exceed its respective recoverable amount as at 31 December
2020.

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 RN—ZE—-—ZT4+—-A=+—H

17. & (&)

AR AR
BBEBEHESNHED A EAARMKEEE
BIREELESLETRER -

PR BRI & B A BB AL A AT IR B £ R R AR IR
EREEAEEEE  ZAEERERSRE
EEMERETFHNMBRERKARE
mETAFE - BRARAESREFRRH IR X
B17% > MAFHURNRSREEA3%H
BRI - 2B RRERETENRETY
BREER -

E-_ZT-_TF+ A=+ HHREEKRS
EAXBNMFERBETERERTHRE - UT
Ml TEEBERER S RETEAETEER
ERHN T ERRERERR

REEFFE — BEEMNEZERBERESF
BRI =FNFIHENX - il B AR E
HEMARATLERME RS °

MEF — ERANRREEMBRHBERRRT
SRR B A B ERR

PREETIHE R MR XNARERMARESR
SNERE R AR — 2K

AEEEEEN G EAZERKNEMSE
ARSI GBI EXBRSELEMD
AEREHEER T _TF+_A=1T—HK
FREE -
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BA R AR BT RE

31 December 2020 R—Z-ZTH+—-H=+—H

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HthEFE&EE
2020 2019
—g-%f “ThE
Deferred Deferred
development Customer development Customer

costs Software  relationship Total costs Software  relationship Total
142 EILRE

A B RFBE #8 A B ZPEE 25

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO00 ~ RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBO00
ARBTR AR®BTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETE

Cost: A

As at 1 January itz | 158,776 2,975 24173 185,924 82,214 2,501 - 84,715
Additions NE 49,937 15,264 - 65,201 37,159 200 - 37,359
Acquistion of subsidiaries  WEEFBAT - - - - 44,201 657 24173 69,031
Disposals S - (66) - (66) (4,798) (383) - (5,181)
As at 31 December W+=A=t+-A8 208,713 18,173 24173 251,059 158,776 2975 24173 185,924

Accumulated amortisation 2345 R EfE :
and impairment:

As at 1 January il Rl =! 33,606 1,043 1,612 36,261 20,252 757 - 21,009
Amortisation provided FREH

for the year 2,484 1,159 2417 6,060 1,762 440 1,612 3,814
Impairment during the year R 2,088 - - 2,088 6,438 - - 6,438
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEHB AR - - - - 9,952 229 - 10,181
Disposals il - (66) - (66) (4,798) (383) - (5,181)
As at 31 December R+=B=1-H 38,178 2,136 4,029 44,343 33,606 1,043 1,612 36,261
Net book value: REFE
As at 31 December R+-A=1+-H 170,535 16,037 20,144 206,716 125,170 1,932 22,561 149,663
As at 1 January ®—R—H 125,170 1,932 22,561 149,663 61,962 1,744 - 63,706
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19.

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Share of net assets A FEE
Goodwill on acquisition U B B )

As described in the Company’s announcement dated 14 December
2016, Dawnrays Biotechnology, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, and Zhongshan KF entered into an agreement to establish a
joint venture, AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (“AD Pharmaceuticals”)
to co-develop innovative therapies. The total investment amount to
AD Pharmaceuticals is amounted to RMB243,470,000,
RMB150,000,000 of which shall be subscribed by Dawnrays
Biotechnology. Dawnrays Biotechnology injected RMB110,000,000
capital from 2017 to 2019 and RMB40,000,000 in 2020.

Particulars of the material associate as at 31 December 2020 are as

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 R=Z—_ZF+=-A=+—H

19. R—EEEQNTZRE

2020 2019
— ZENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
34,465 38,068
64,204 39,372
98,669 77,440

AR BIRNZE—ARF+ZA+EANRMA
Frat - ANEE 2 E B A R R In Y R IR
SV EERRRRRERES (BR) By
BRAR([ERET ) AR AIFEL - E
BhER 7 R 4R 1% B BE B A R 248,470,000 7T
& AR 150,000,000 TS A EIHEEWR
B REAEMR T —+FE_T—AFEA
EARANRHE110,000,000 TRR =TT FE
ANE AR 40,000,000 TG

RZBEZZF+_A=T—HEXEBERRZ

follows: BT
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ ownership interest
registration attributable
Name and business to the Group Principal activities
S Bk AEERGEEE
£ R B ERAs FEEK

AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. Mainland China

BRRT (BR)BEFRAR] HA [ K fze

For the year ended 31 December 2020, AD Pharmaceuticals Co.,
Ltd. reported a loss of RMB53,631,000 for the year 2020. As a
result, the Group shared, in proportion to the investment percentage,
an investment loss of approximately RMB18,771,000 (2019:
RMB11,829,000).

35 Research and development of

biotechnology and
bio-pharmaceutical products

AR B A ) 8 TR e BT

RZEZTF+A= + BIEFER @ Eet

RA(BRR)BEERABDIAM-Z_ZFAE

TEAE?&%S,GSLOOOE o Hit - AEERKE

LEBIFER BB RO AR 18,771,000 7T (=
—nF : AR 11,829,0007T) °
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31 December 2020 R—Z-ZTH+—-H=+—H

19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Cont’d)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in
respect of AD Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. adjusted for any differences
in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
financial statements:

19. R—EBEQAFZRE (B)
TRIVRIE BRI =R N AR R
BHREAANREESRNERRD (BR)BEE
RARMMBEERLE

2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Current assets mENEE 15,092 34,369
Non-current assets ERBEE 124,573 87,356
Current liabilities mENaE (41,105) (9,382)
Non-current liabilities IERBasE (90) (3,577)
Net assets FEE 98,470 108,766
Recongiliation to the Group’s interest ERARE BN Z L N A AR S E AR
in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEE A LB 35% 35%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate, £ B fE (Bt =N A% & &
excluding goodwill (T BREEE) 34,465 38,068
Goodwill on acquisition LT B B O g 2 64,204 39,372
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 98,669 77,440
Revenue WA - -
Loss for the year KEEEE (53,631) (33,797)
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20.

21.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials R %}
Work in progress &
Finished goods LUPK
Less: provision W B
TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables W E S FIE
Notes receivable RN =R FIE
Impairment RE

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

31 December 2020 RN—ZE—-—ZT4+—-A=+—H
20. &
2020 2019
= —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETTT
74,454 65,368
42,080 62,098
135,655 64,449
252,189 191,915
(6,161) (11,156)
246,028 180,759

21. EWEZREEE

2020 2019
—g-®F -—T-N%F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR%T ARET T
() 176,391 207,379
(i 154,356 163,615
330,747 370,994

330,747 370,994
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31 December 2020

21.

172 DAWNRAYS PHARMACEUTICAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED HEe#I% (28%) AR A 7

RZZ=TF+=A=+—H

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

Notes:

U

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally three months for major
customers. Each customer has a credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit
control department to manage credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade and notes receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,
is as follows:

21. BRESREEFE (&)

BeE

0

Trade receivables FEWE 558
Outstanding balances with ages: AR R 25 B 1M R BREE ¢
Within 90 days 90HA
Between 91 and 180 days 91&180H
Between 181 and 270 days 1812 270H
Between 271 and 360 days 2712360 H
Over one year —F A

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

From 1 January 2019, the Group has applied the simplified approach
to provide impairment for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) prescribed
by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The ECLs below also incorporate forward-looking
information. The impairment is determined as follows:

Expected credit loss rate JEHRE BBk R
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) WEEH S (ARKTT)
Impairment (RMB’000) SE(ARETT)

BRETE P —RBRAFRI - AEEERZE
ERREEFPRZS - MEBRPEEH—RA
=@AR - BUFFPHUREEFEERE - XEEEK
REREAREEREGOR - YREEREER
MEREERR SREEEBESEHRR
HIR SR - N PA BRIt & B AT AN SR B RO R UL B
HRBERRETRES - AtEEREES
BEERE - BKRE S RZIERBIAFE -

HRBERIREEREE  RIREHRNE
WE SFIRMARER DT

2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
162,178 171,276
10,600 16,380
2,498 11,161

392 3,630

723 4,932
176,391 207,379

IR 380 5 e X R PO B JKUSR IR T B K 85 B
EEHNBLHARETRZSHE -

=T hF—F— A AEECKEEHL
77 5 R B TS IR AR R O SR O TS
BEBIHERE - £ SRR AR 5508
B A AN T RIA K S B BiA KR
- A EEMEEEE  BRESHAER
BEA ERRREERNAREEETHE o U
THEREEEREOAAEMES - REER
T

2020 2019

e —ThF
<0.1% <0.1%
176,391 207,379



21. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

(i)

Notes receivable are held with a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling as the Group
sometimes endorses notes receivable to suppliers prior to their expiry
date. These are classified and measured as debt instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income and presented as trade
and notes receivables.

Financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety

As at 31 December 2020, the Group endorsed certain notes receivable
accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Endorsed Notes”) with a carrying
amount of RMB45,320,000 (2019: RMB18,638,000) to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers (the
“Endorsement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has retained
the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to
such Endorsed Notes, and accordingly, it continued to recognize the
full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Notes and the associated trade
payables settled. Subsequent to the Endorsement, the Group does not
retain any rights on the use of the Endorsed Notes, including sale,
transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Notes to any other third parties. The
aggregate carrying amounts of the trade payables and other payables
settled by the Endorsed Notes during the year to which the suppliers
have recourse were RMB11,156,000 (2019: RMB9,136,000) and
RMB34,164,000 (2019: RMB9,502,000) as at 31 December 2020,
respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group discounted certain notes
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Discounted Notes”)
with a carrying amount of RMB19,399,000. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has retained the substantial risks and rewards,
which include default risks relating to such Discounted Notes, and
accordingly, it continued to recognize the full carrying amounts of the
Discounted Notes and the associated short-term borrowings.
Subsequent to the discounting, the Group does not retain any rights
on the use of the Discounted Notes, including sale, transfer or pledge
of the Discounted Notes to any other third parties. The aggregate
carrying amount of short-term borrowings arising from the Discounted
Notes was RMB19,399,000 as at 31 December 2019. As at 31
December 2020, the Group had no such Discounted Notes.

Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2020 RZ=F =

21. EWEZREER

PR AR BT RE

TET_HA=+—H

5 (%)

BiaE © (&)

(i

EWEEHN A EEER SRS EE
ERftER - BEZSREERNEBRAEL
NI ENRERESEBEXALERER -
ZEBRBRAEBEMEEKEARABIIRZ
BRETAETHOBERGELINRRERE SR
FEBHIE -

R AP TR 2 BT

R-ZE-—ZF+-A=+—H  RPBRBET
BEMASEEEES THEEARKA45320,000
T(ZZE—h4E: AR¥18,638,0007T) 2 &
WEE(TBEZE]) THETHER - WX
BRZELERZENESR(EE]) &S
Rb AEEEE LREEBRKEER - EH
BREEBEEEREZENRR At - ~5E
HERREEZR 22 EREEREIAEE
NBHH - HE%  AEEYERBEAER
EEZREMERN  BELE - ERaE
EEERTIMEME=S - TR BBEEE
ERS Nz HERAEREENE SR RE
tENRBR-_Z_ZEF+-_A=+—H2#&
BEEED B A AR 11,156,000 T(—E— N
F : AR#9,136,0007T)F1 A R % 34,164,000
TL(ZZE—NF : AR¥9,502,0007T) °

—NWE+=A=+—8 RPEORT
AN = E R IR A T EE A R 19,399,000
TZEREIE (R ZIR]) - EFRA - A%
EEED HRABRAKREER - &5 aEEma
RERZENRE - Bt - NEEFERERE
REZ72HEFAERBBREHEE - BAR
% - AEENERB EAERAREZEZ EM
EH  REEE - EEgUKAMIEER TR
HthE =7 - ARRERES 2K HEERK
HER-_ZTE—NAE+-_A=+t—"HBAARKE
19,899,000t e R=ZZE=ZFTF+=A=+—
B ANEBTEZEHIRZIE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 —Z=—Z4&&3 173



Notes to Financial Statements

BA R AR BT RE

31 December 2020 R-—ZE-_ZTF+—-A=+—H

22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS

Current wE

Prepayments TEf R

Deposits and other receivables Re RE A EUKIE
Wealth management products? B Em'
Non-current FERB

Prepayment for market authorisation fee* WA EEA

On 24 December 2019, Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical signed a
transfer agreement (the “Agreement”) with Nanjing Haina Medical and
Pharmaceutical Technology Company Limited (“Nanjing Haina”), an
independent third party, with regard to the transfer of the marketing
authorisation holder of Febuxostat Tablets (40mg, 80mg) (“MAH”) and
bulk medicines for gout treatment. As at 31 December 2020, Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical paid an upfront fee of RMB20 million after
signing the Agreement. Nanjing Haina obtained the drug registration
certificates for Febuxostat Tablets (40mg, 80mg) on 2 February 2021.
Suzhou Dawnrays Pharmaceutical will pay the remaining RMB20
million in installments until completion of the transfer of MAH to Suzhou
Dawnrays Pharmaceutical.

s The principal of these wealth management products are guaranteed
with fixed interest rates.

As at 31 December 2020, other receivables of the Group were
considered to be of low credit risk and thus the Group has assessed
that the ECL for other receivables was immaterial under the
12-month expected loss method and no impairment provision is

required.
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which

there was no recent history of default.

The carrying amounts of the prepayments, other receivables and

other assets approximate to their fair values.
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e

22. NN AftBWFEREMEE

2020 2019
F=BF —FTNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

9,745 15,650
30,016 30,489
- 140,000
39,761 186,139
20,000 =

* R-ZE—hF+= =+ B &M e sl ks
BYE=FHREMBEREBRMERDQA

(TR REM]) FrTE R e RRNIEm At A
(40mg, 80mg)iﬁiﬁThﬁA(fMAHJ)&E
BemeE g ((hE])  c R=ZT-TF+=
A=+—8  &MNERGE RS HhER A
HEBARK2000E8IT  BEREMRN_-Z
——®=ZA= EIHX 317 &) ftb Fr (40mg,
80mg) B MEE ¢ BN BRI 2 B B X 1+
AR#2,0008 7T 2 A B EMAHLA BRI R IG o

# bk S T2 B 7 i R AN 2 L ) SR ARAE o

R-ZB-ZEHF+_A=+—H TEENEM
ERFBRBER/EERRRE  URAKED
PG E W R IRR 12 B A AR TR (S B R 1R
WAEX - HERRERE -

BREERAB R ERE - DAEHRERE
Z A B B BN R KR L e R WGRIR R
7 e

BNR - EERFRAER R EEZ REEE
SEE A EEMRLT



23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Notes to Financial Statements

PR AR BT RE

23.

Listed equity investments, at fair value ETRERE - BARE

Listed debt investments, at fair value THEERE  RARE

Other unlisted investments, at fair value ~ EM3E FH1RE @ IRAAE

Foreign exchange forward contracts, INEREAG X - IASRE
at fair value

Notes:

(i)

Listed equity investments represented the Group’s investments in
public listed companies, which are quoted in an active market. The fair
value of the listed equity investments is based on their quoted prices
as of 31 December 2020 in an active market.

Listed debt investments represented the Group’s investments in
financial bonds issued by China Development Bank, which are quoted
in an active market. The fair value of the listed debt investments is
based on their quoted prices as of 31 December 2020 in an active
market.

The above listed equity investments and listed debt investments at 31
December 2020 were classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments at 31 December 2020 were floating
interest rate principal-preservation type of wealth management
products. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest. The fair value of the wealth
management products is based on the bank’s quoted expected
returns.

31 December 2020 R-—ZE_ZTHF+_-_A=+—H
DAREBEFEEESETTABR 20K
EE

2020 2019

F=BF —FTNEF

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
hE=s AR¥T R ARET T

(i) 5,962 9,557

(i) 30,174 37,630

(i) 164,985 458,643

71 -
201,192 505,830
BIsE -

(i

EBEREEARERAR EMATNR
& HBEEBTSRE o L hRERE A
RETRERE-2-2F+-A=+—BZ
ERTSHEMRE -

AR EEAREHERFARRITHRTH
SRMEZNIRE  EEAERTIZRE - £H
BEREKENAREDREBEE_ZT_TF+—
A=+t —HZERTSHREMNE °

HRFEEE LR —Z—_TF+_ A
=t B LEmBERE R EEERERD
BRUARENEBEEHF ABR I UBEE
=

BRR—Z-FFE+ - A=+—BHIELHER
BARRANFENEBABERER - BEAHR

EREVIHERAS RABNFK - ZEEHE
uu%&%ﬁ%ﬂ"* REANEFEREEFAE

w2 MBEE - BMERN AR ETIRERT
R B HOTEHA B S if 5 o
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As at 31 December 2020, the cash and bank balances and short-
term deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB697,897,000 (2019: RMB430,621,000) in Mainland China. The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks